University of Miami Scholarly Repository

Open Access Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2009-12-06

Nocturnal Fish Distribution, Feeding and Predation Risk in Relation to a Mangrove-Seagrass Ecotone

Neil Hammerschlag University of Miami, nhammerschlag@rsmas.miami.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_dissertations

Recommended Citation

Hammerschlag, Neil, "Nocturnal Fish Distribution, Feeding and Predation Risk in Relation to a Mangrove-Seagrass Ecotone" (2009). *Open Access Dissertations*. Paper 319.

This Open access is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact repository.library@miami.edu.

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

NOCTURNAL FISH DISTRIBUTION, FEEDING AND PREDATION RISK IN RELATION TO A MANGROVE-SEAGRASS ECOTONE

By

Neil Hammerschlag

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Miami in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Coral Gables, Florida

December 2009

©2009 Neil Hammerschlag All Rights Reserved

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

NOCTURNAL FISH DISTRIBUTION, FEEDING AND PREDATION RISK IN RELATION TO A MANGROVE-SEAGRASS ECOTONE

Neil Hammerschlag

Approved:

Joseph E. Serafy, Ph.D. Research Associate Professor of Marine Biology and Fisheries Terri A. Scandura, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Larry E. Brand, Ph.D. Professor of Marine Biology and Fisheries Michael R. Heithaus, Ph.D. Professor of Biology Florida International University

Diego Lirman, Ph.D. Research Assistant Professor of Marine Biology and Fisheries Todd Kellison, Ph.D. Chief, Fisheries Ecosystem NOAA Fisheries – Beaufort Lab

Gary Thomas, Ph.D. Professor of Marine Biology and Fisheries (Ph.D., Marine Biology and Fisheries)

(Fall 2009)

HAMMERSCHLAG, NEIL Nocturnal Fish Distribution, Feeding and Predation Risk in Relation to a Mangrove-Seagrass Ecotone

Abstract of a dissertation at the University of Miami.

Dissertation supervised by Research Associate Professor Joseph E. Serafy. No. of pages in text. (132)

The combined effects of food availability and predation risk on fish foraging behavior have been investigated via both laboratory and field experiments, primarily in temperate, freshwater systems and during daylight hours. In contrast, relatively little attention has been directed towards fish foraging decisions along subtropical shorelines, which serve as nursery grounds for a variety of economically important fishes, as well as at night, when many species emerge from refuges to feed. The mangrove-seagrass ecotone and adjacent seagrass beds constitute nocturnal feeding grounds for fish secondary-tertiary consumers. In subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA), I investigated the influences of food and risk on nocturnal seagrass use by gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus), bluestriped grunt (Haemulon sciurus), great barracuda (Sphyraena barracuda), and seabream (Archosargus *rhomboidalis*) along a distance gradient, spanning from the mangrove fringe to 120 m from shore. This was accomplished by conducting a series of integrated field and laboratory studies, including: (1) nocturnal seine sampling to determine fish abundance patterns in relation to the mangrove-seagrass interface; (2) fish stomach content analysis to reveal feeding habits and trophic relationships; and (3) diel field tethering experiments to explore nearshore gradients in predation pressure. With these data I tested a priori

predictions of fish distributions relative to food and predation risk that were generated from foraging theory: (1) fishes will be distributed across the distance gradient in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution, IFD); or (2) fishes will avoid high risk areas such that their abundances will be lower than predicted by food resources in high-risk habitats (i.e., food-risk trade-off). Results revealed that fish assemblage composition differed by season and distance from shore, with the zone nearest the mangroves generally harboring the lowest densities of late-stage juvenile fishes. Stomach content analysis demonstrated that gray snapper fed on a variety of small fishes and crustaceans, while bluestriped grunt fed primarily on caridean shrimp. Seabream fed almost exclusively on vegetation and great barracuda was almost entirely piscivorous; however, seasonal shifts in diet and feeding habits were evident. Seasonal shifts in major food resource use generally did not correspond with changes in relative abundance of food supply. Seasonal trophic niche breadth differences were evident for gray snapper, great barracuda and bluestriped grunt, while niche breadth was equivalent between seasons for seabream. Based on seasonal food supply in the environment, niche breadth values did not match basic foraging theory predictions, which state niche breadth should expand as preferred food resources become scarce. Tethering experiments indicated that predation rates were highest nearest the mangrove edge and decreased with increasing distance from shore. Moreover, predation pressure at night was nearly twice as high compared to the day. Testing these data against my predictions from foraging theory, I found that none of the fishes examined (gray snapper, seabream and bluestriped grunt) were distributed according to IFD. Seabream and gray snapper avoided foraging close to the mangrove-edge, where their food was most abundant, but risk was highest.

Bluestriped grunt appeared to forage randomly across the distance gradient despite spatial variation in food and predation risk. Overall, results suggest that: (1) spatial patterns of utilization of seagrass habitat adjacent to the mangrove-seagrass ecotone differs by species, life-stage and season; (2) Seasonal shifts in diet were not correlated with changes in relative abundance of food supply; (3) trophic niche breadth of late juveniles did not expand with declines in their food resources; (4) the mangrove-seagrass ecotone appears to serve as a hunting corridor for predators targeting juvenile fishes moving about the mangroves; and (5) two of the three species examined appeared to give up food in return for safety by avoiding foraging near the mangroves, despite high food availability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work could not have been accomplished without the help and support of many individuals. My advisor, Dr. Joe Serafy, motivated, pushed and challenged me when I needed it. I cannot thank him enough for his encouragement, guidance and true mentorship. My committee members, Dr. Mike Heithaus, Dr. Todd Kellison, Dr. Diego Lirman, Dr. Larry Brand and Dr. Gary Thomas, were instrumental in helping me complete my Ph.D. and provided great insight, which helped me strengthen my dissertation. Thank you.

I am indebted to all interns, students and teachers who helped support this work as part of the South Florida Student Shark Program, primarily Dan Ovando, Annie Morgan, Anthony Disilvestro, Adam Matulik, Dominique Lazarre, Ashley Krajca, Leann Winn, Elizabeth Overstreet, Laura Rock, Ana Griefen, Megan Fast, Lindsay Glade, Katie Titley, Jordan Ross, Corina Antal, Xaymara Serrano, Daniell Washington, Sabrina Garcia and Jenny Allen. For their help with field and laboratory data collection, thanks to Ted Davis, Deb Hixon, Mark Taholka, Leann Winn, Robert Mcglynn and the many students of South Broward high school, MAST Academy and Palmer Trinity School.

I especially want to thank Dr. David Die, Rose Mann, Lacey Hoover, Dr. Stan Spielman and Hank Luria for their guidance and continued support. Special thanks to Brian Teare, Tom Jackson, Gale Myers and Mike Giganti for their field and technical help throughout this project. Thanks to Guy Harvey, Steve Stock and Jiangang Luo who provided equipment for use in this project.

Research was conducted under Biscayne National Park Permits BISC-2008-SCI-0003, BISC-2008-SCI-0005 and the University of Miami Institutional Animal Care and

iii

Use Committee (IACUC) Protocol # 05-244. I am grateful to Mark Lewis, Elsa Alvear, Richard Curry and Max Tritt from Biscayne National Park who provided logistical help, permits, field support and coordination for this project.

My dissertation could not have been conducted without funding from several outstanding organizations through the University of Miami's South Florida Student Shark Program. Funding was primarily provided by the Herbert W. Hoover Foundation, the Batchelor Foundation Inc, NOAA Living Marine Resources Cooperative Science Center, National Park Service (Biscayne National Park), and the SeaStar Foundation.

I am grateful to many great people in the RSMAS community that have helped me along the way. Thanks to all those in the MBF Office, Computers facility, Shipping, Advancement, the Dean's Office, Graduate Studies, Business Office, Sponsored Programs and Library, particularly Susan MacMahon, Marilyn Green, Sidney Hartley, Cary Rios, Maggie Evans, Laura Bracken, Robbie Rand, Brent Alexander, Michael Anderson, Efrain Aranda, Ann Cambell, Barbra Gonzalez, Vanessa Gonzalez, Carla Lovinsky, Francine Bobroff, Kim Miller, Karen Wilkening, Lisa Fish, Angela Clark and Doug Tyrrell. Thanks also to Doreen Yamamoto for helping me prepare my dissertation.

I'd like to thank the many scientists who inspired me as well as gave their time and knowledge throughout the years. Thanks in particular to the late R. Aidan Martin, Dr. Samuel Gruber, Dr. Bob Hueter, Dr. Mike Heithaus, Dr. Mahmood Shivji, Dr. Jim Gelsleichter, Marie Levine, John Tyminski, Sonja Fordham and the late Dr. Ransom Myers.

I want to also take this opportunity to thank all my friends and supporters who encouraged me during the course of this journey, especially Ryan Rakowski, Aaron

iv

Kirsch, Corey Birnbaum, Stephen Gasparek, Keryn Stein, Curt and Kelli Slonim, Bethany Wrock, Ayeisha Brinson, Chris and Monique Fallows, Jim Abernethy, Matt Potenski and Abe Smith. Thanks for always being there when I needed you.

I cannot express my appreciation to my beautiful family. Thank you Mom and Dad for your continued encouragement, advice and love; I could not have done it without you. To my sister, Andrea, and my brother Adam, thanks for always being there for me. Thanks also to my many aunts, uncles and cousins for their love and support. To my gorgeous wife and best friend, Caroline, thank you for helping me each and every day, keeping me healthy and giving me the motivation and inspiration I needed to complete my dissertation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
Chapter	
1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF WORK	1
2 NOCTURNAL FISH UTILIZATION OF A SUBTROPICAL MANGROVE SEAGRASS ECOTONE: STAGE-SPECIFIC PATTERNS OF ABUNDAN IN FOUR SPECIES Background Materials and methods Results. Discussion	3- CE 11 12 15 18 20
3 SEASONAL DIET AND FEEDING HABITS OF JUVENILE FISHES FORAGING ALONG A SUBTROPICAL MARINE ECOTONE	34 35 36 39 43
4 RELATIVE PREDATION RISK FOR JUVENILE FISHES ALONG A SUBTROPICAL MARINE ECOTONE	59 59 63 67 68
 5 THE INFLUENCE OF FOOD SUPPLY AND PREDATION RISK ON NOCTURNAL FISH DISTRIBUTIONS ALONG A SUBTROPICAL MANGROVE-SEAGRASS ECOTONE	80 81 84 90 91
6 OVERVIEW, CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	102

APPENDIX A:	114
APPENDIX B:	115
LITERATURE CITED	116
VITA	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Review of studies published between 1983 and 2009 investigating predation pressure on fishes 8	3
Table 2.1. Numbers and size composition of early and late juvenile sampled during the wet and dry season for examining nocturnal fish distributions	6
Table 2.2. Results of stepwise one-way analysis of similarity examining factorsinfluencing fish assemblage composition and structure2	7
Table 3.1. Mean and range of abiotic environmental variables measured seasonally at the study site in Biscayne Bay, Florida	e 8
Table 3.2. Sample sizes and size ranges of late-juvenile fishes collected at night for stomach content analysis	9
Table 3.3. Seasonal diet compositions of late-juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda 5	0
Table 3.4. Mean seasonal abundance and range of primary food resources for focalspecies collected from the environment within Biscayne Bay, Florida	2
Table 4.1. Chronological list of tethering studies in nearshore habitats published over the past 24 years7) 5
Table 4.2. Review of experimental designs employed in 22 nearshore fish tetheringexperiments published over the past 24 years	6
Table 5.1. Mean abundance and length of different fish food items measured across the sampling distance gradient in Biscayne Bay, Florida	7

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Map of Florida depicting location of study site within Biscayne Bay	28
Figure 2.2. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling plots revealing that samples of fishes collected nearest the mangroves are distinct from other distances	29
Figure 2.3. Relative density-distance patterns for early-stage juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda	30
Figure 2.4. Relative density-distance patterns for late-stage juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda	32
Figure 3.1. Map of Florida depicting location of study site within Biscayne Bay	53
Figure 3.2. Cumulative food resource curves for stomachs analyzed of gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda	54
Figure 3.3. Levins' index of trophic niche breadth calculated for gray snapper, seabrea bluestriped grunt and great barracuda	um, 55
Figure 3.4. Plots comparing seasonal abundance of fish primary food items in the environment relative to seasonal consumption of these food items by gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda	56
Figure 3.5. Plots comparing seasonal aggregate abundance of primary food items in th environment relative to trophic niche breadths of gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda	ie 57
Figure 3.6. Seasonal trophic models of focal fishes and their prey collected from Biscayne Bay, Florida	58
Figure 4.1. Map of Florida depicting location of study site within Biscayne Bay	77
Figure 4.2. Comparison of diel predation losses of tethered pinfish in relation to mangrove proximity	78
Figure 4.3. Trends in relative predation pressure in nearshore habitats during the day versus night and in relation to distance from ecotone based on data reviewed from published studies	79
Figure 5.1. Map of Florida depicting location of study site within Biscayne Bay	98
Figure 5.2. Relative density-distance patterns of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped gru seabream as well as their food supply	ınt, 99

Figure 5.3. Significant fit of logistic regression relating predation losses of tethered	
pinfish against distance from shore	100

Figure 5.4. Examining the effects of food availability and predation risk on habitat use by gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream by testing foraging models 101

Chapter 1. General Introduction and Scope of Work

Predators can affect the distribution and abundance of their prey directly through mortality (i.e., killing and consumption) as well as behaviorally through risk effects (i.e., frightening their prey) (Brown et al. 1999; Heithaus et al. 2008; Creel and Christianson 2008). Risk effects arise when prey alter their behavior in response to predators (i.e., anti-predator behavior). This includes changes in time allocation to foraging or by using vigilance, which carry costs such as sacrificing feeding or reproduction opportunities for safety (Brown 1999; Brown and Kotler 2004). These predation risk effects can cascade through communities, resulting in alterations in community composition and dynamics that may equal or exceed those from direct mortality (Peacor and Werner 2001; Werner and Peacor 2003). Growing evidence suggests that risk-effects are context dependent (Schmitz 2007) and are strongly influenced by landscape features (e.g., habitat edges, Heithaus et al. 2009).

The effects of predation risk on fish foraging behavior has been relatively well studied in both the laboratory and field. I conducted a review of 57 studies, published over the past 26 years, which explored predation pressure to fishes in aquatic environments (Table 1.1). Of these studies, 56 % were conducted in the field, where tethering experiments were the most common method employed to empirically quantify patterns of predation pressure (~ 70 %). Nearly 80 % of all studies reviewed were conducted solely during daylight hours, although at night, many fishes emerge from refuges to feed. Relatively little attention (~ 20 % of studies) has been directed towards examining predation pressure to fishes along tropical or subtropical shorelines, which serve as nursery habitats for a variety of economically important fishes. In addition, of

1

the reviewed studies, less than 10 % considered the responses of multiple fish species to predation pressure, even though most systems contain a variety of fishes and responses may be species-specific (e.g., Heithaus et al. 2009). The reviewed studies which investigated the effects of predation pressure on fish habitat use, typically examined foraging behavior in discrete habitat patches, for example, structurally complex "safe" habitats versus open "risky" habitats (Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998) and few studies (< 20 %) examined the effects of predation pressure to fishes along a habitat gradient that varies in relative safety. Moreover, few of the reviewed studies (~ 5 %) considered edges or transition zones between habitat patches. However, fishes are often at high risk from predation when crossing transition zones between sheltered and feeding patches. Such transition zones, or ecotones, can serve as hunting corridors for predators (reviewed by Decamps and Naiman, 1988; Ries and Sisk 2004). It has been recently suggested that progress toward identifying general trends in habitat selection might be achieved by focusing survey efforts on ecotones at a time when movement relating to feeding occurs (Ley and Halliday 2007).

Subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA) provides an opportunity to investigate the combined effects of food availability and predation risk on the nocturnal distributions of multiple fish species across their foraging landscape, spanning from the mangroveseagrass ecotone into adjacent seagrass beds. During daylight hours, a diverse group of juvenile fishes utilize the Bay's mangrove-fringed shorelines as shelter from predators (Serafy et al. 2003; Serafy et al. 2007). However, a combination of gut content (e.g. Randall 1967), stable isotope (Kieckbusch et al. 2004; Nagelkerken and Van der Velde 2004a,b), direct visual observation (Rooker and Dennis 1991) and tracking studies (Luo et al. 2009) suggest that fishes disperse from the mangrove prop roots at night to forage in adjacent seagrass beds. While foraging at night, these fishes are likely vulnerable to predation; however, it remains unclear how predation risk drives spatial variation in fish habitat use.

Behavioral optimization theory and associated foraging models provide frameworks for studying the influence of predation risk on fish foraging habitat use (Brown 1999; discussed by Wirsing et al. 2008). The ideal free distribution model (IFD; Fretwell and Lucas 1970) can be used as a null model for assessing factors influencing habitat use during foraging, including predation risk (e.g. van Baalen and Sablelis 1993; Heithaus et al. 2007b; Wirsing et al. 2008). The basic IFD model predicts that foragers will be distributed across habitat patches in proportion to their food supply. This can be expressed algebraically as:

$$p_i = s_i / (s_i + s_j)$$
 [Equation 1]

Where: p = proportion of fish in a patch; s = food supply; *i*, *j*, *k* etc. denote habitat patches. Therefore, if consumers follow an IFD, the densities of foragers relative to their food availability (i.e., the ratio of relative foragers to their food densities) should be equal across habitat patches. Numerous studies have indeed found support for IFD (reviewed by Tregenza 1995). However, if predation risk varies across habitats, most foragers will sacrifice foraging opportunities for safety (see Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998 for reviews). This should lead to relative densities of foragers in safer habitats being greater than they would be in the absence of predation risk. Applying this framework in Shark Bay, Australia, Wirsing et al. (2007b) found that Dugongs (*Dugon dugon*) used shallow and deep habitats in proportion to their food supply during periods when their predators

(tiger sharks, *Galeocerdo cuvier*) were scarce; but Dugongs "overused" deep (food-poor) habitats when sharks were common. Numerous foraging models have been proposed for optimizing the trade-off between predation risk and food availability (see Fraser and Gilliam 1987; Brown 1992; Brown and Kotler 2004). However, Gilliam and Fraser (1987) proposed a model whereby foragers employ a habitat use strategy that minimizes total mortality risk while allowing some net energy gain. This model is algebraically expressed as:

Select H_i, if $\mu_i/f_i < \mu_j/f_j$ (i.e., minimize μ/f) [Equation 2]

Where: H = habitat patch; μ = predation risk; f = foraging rate; i, j, k etc. denote habitat patches. Gilliam and Fraser (1987) found that data on juvenile creek chub (*Semotilus atromaculatus*) foraging under predation risk agreed well with the model's theoretical predictions.

Using this theoretical framework, I examined the combined effects of predation risk and food supply on fish distributions along the subtropical ecotone in Biscayne Bay, Florida. This was accomplished by testing the following predictions (based on foraging theory): (1) fishes will be distributed across their foraging landscape in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution theory, Fretwell and Lucas 1970); or (2) fishes will avoid high-risk habitats so that relative abundances are lowest in habitats with relatively high-risk and *vice versa* (i.e., food risk tradeoffs, Gilliam and Fraser 1987).

To apply this framework, I needed to quantify the necessary IFD and food-risk tradeoff model parameters (p, s, f, μ ; see Equation 1 and 2) across the mangrove edge and along the adjacent seagrass habitat of Biscayne Bay. This was accomplished in this dissertation by conducting a series of integrated field and laboratory studies which are

presented in the four data chapters that follow. These studies include: (Chapter 2) seine surveys to determine the nocturnal distribution and abundance patterns of the focal fishes in relation to distance from the mangrove-seagrass interface; (Chapter 3) stomach content analysis of the focal fishes to reveal feeding habits and trophic relationships; (Chapter 4) field manipulation experiments to explore nearshore gradients in predation pressure; and (Chapter. 5) applying foraging models with empirical field data collected to evaluate the influence of food availability and risk on nocturnal fish distribution patterns in relation to distance from the mangrove-seagrass interface. Research focused on the foraging habitat use of gray snapper (*Lutjanus griseus*), bluestriped grunt (*Haemulon sciurus*), seabream (*Archosargus rhomboidalis*) and great barracuda (*Sphyraena barracuda*). These fishes were selected because they are among the most abundant species in the bay (Serafy et al. 1997; Serafy et al. 2003) and two have economic importance in the region's recreational fishery and dive tourism industry (i.e., great barracuda and gray snapper).

This dissertation contributes to a growing understanding of the nursery function of nearshore, back-reef systems (Adams et al. 2006a). Recently, there has been a focus on determining the nursery function of different habitats in these systems (i.e., the contribution of different habitat types to the growth and survival of juveniles) in order to prioritize areas for management and conservation purposes, such as marine reserves or identify essential fish habitats (Beck et al. 2001; Adams et al. 2006a; Dahlgren et al. 2006). Factors that have been identified as priorities for determining nursery function include quantifying predation effects and production rates (Beck et al. 2001; Adams et al. 2006a). However, direct, field-based studies examining predation risk in mangroves and/or seagrass beds are few and little is known about how predation influences fish abundance patterns. This dissertation directly evaluates how predation risk influences fish distribution and abundance patterns during foraging. Several recent studies have attempted to generate production rates for juvenile fishes occupying mangroves based on diurnal surveys (Valentine-Rose et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008a). However, for realistic production estimates, knowledge of the total area utilized by the fishes is crucial. Since many fishes use mangroves as refuges during the day, but forage in adjacent habitats at night, estimating fish production based solely on diurnal observation may be misleading. By examining nocturnal foraging distributions of juvenile fishes, this study provides new insights for understanding predator-prey interactions as well as evaluating nocturnal habitat use of fishes, which have management implications such as estimating secondary production of fishes.

In summary, there is a growing demand for predictive models in these back-reef nursery habitats for development of effective management strategies that optimize ecosystem production and diversity (e.g. Beck et al. 2001; Adams et al. 2006a; Dahlgren et al. 2006). However, these models have largely overlooked the role of predation risk in structuring marine communities due to a lack of understanding of species interactions. My work directly investigates the influences of food availability and predation risk on nocturnal fish habitat use patterns along a continuous mangrove-seagrass distance gradient. The chapters that comprise my dissertation are:

- 1. General introduction and scope of work
- 2. Nocturnal fish utilization of a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone: stagespecific patterns of abundance in four species

- Seasonal diet and feeding habits of juvenile fishes foraging along a subtropical marine ecotone
- 4. Relative predation risk for juvenile fishes along a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone
- 5. The influence of food supply and predation risk on nocturnal fish distributions along a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone
- 6. Summary and conclusions.

Table 1.1. Review of 57 studies published between 1983 and 2009 investigating predation pressure on fishes. Studies were included in the review if predation pressure to fishes was quantified by some means (e.g. tethering experiments or predator abundance surveys) or simulated (e.g. odor stimulus in lab experiment). "Study location" refers to the site of field studies or location where fish were collected from for laboratory (Lab) studies. Fresh = freshwater; Mes = Mesocosm field study or experiment; Crep = crepuscular; Table heading "Land. or Grad. (Y/N)" refers to whether the study was conducted across the fish's foraging landscape or along a habitat gradient of more than two patches that varied in relative safety. NR=Not reported.

Table 1.1						
Reference	Study Location	Focal Fish Species	Env.	Study Type	Time of Day	Land. or Grad.
Werner et al. (1983)	Michigan, USA	Micropterus salmoides	Fresh	Mes	Day	N
Schmitt & Holbrook. (1985)	California, USA	Embioroca jacksoni	Marine	Lab & Mes	Day	Z
Shulman (1985)	St. Croix, USVI	Haemulidae spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Gilliam & Fraser (1987)	New York, USA	Semotilus atromaculatus	Fresh	Mes	Day	Z
Harvey et al. (1988)	Oklahoma, USA	Curnposrorna unomulwn	Fresh	Mes	Day	Z
Holbrook & Schmitt (1988)	California, USA	Embioroca jacksoni	Marine	Lab & Mes	Day	N
McIvor & Odum (1988)	Virginia, USA	Fundulus Heteroclitus	Fresh	Field	Day	Z
Rozas & Odum (1988)	Virginia, USA	F. Heteroclitus	Fresh	Field	Day	Z
Schlosser (1988)	Minnesota, USA	Nocomis bigutattus	Fresh	Lab	Day; Night	Z
Croy & Hughes. (1991)	NR	Gasterosteus aculeatus	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Labeelund et al. (1993)	Norway	Salvelinus alpinus	Fresh	Field	Day	Z
Pettersson & Bronmark. (1993)	Sweden	Carassius carassius	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Ruiz et al. (1993)	Chesapeake Bay, USA	F. Heteroclitus	Fresh	Field	Day	Υ
Utne et al. (1993)	Norway	Gobiusculus flavescens	Marine	Lab	Day	Z
Limburg (1996)	New York, USA	Alosa sapidissima	Fresh	Field	Day	Υ
Ryer & Olla (1996)	Oregon, USA	Oncorhynchus keta	NR	Lab	Day	Z
Grand & Dill (1997)	British Columbia, CA	O. kisutch	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Damsgard & Dill. (1998)	British Columbia, CA	O. kisutch	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Abrahams & Sutterlin (1999)	New Brunswick, CA	Salmo salar	NR	Lab	Day	Z
Danilowicz & Sale (1999)	Teague Bay, US Virgin Islands	H. flavolineatum	Marine	Field	Day; Night; Crep.	Z
Landry et al. (1999)	British Columbia, CA	O. mykiss	Fresh	Field	Day; Crep.	Z
Brown and Cowan (2000)	New York, USA	Chrosomus neogaeus	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Dahlgren & Eggleston (2000)	Great Exuma Island, Bahamas	Epinephelus striatus	Marine	Field	Day; Night	Z
Halpin (2000)	Rhode Island, USA	F. Heteroclitus	Marine	Field	Day; Night	Z
Linehan et al. (2001)	Newfoundland, CA	Gadus morhua, G. ogac	Marine	Field	Day; Night; Crep.	Υ
Skalski & Gilliam (2002)	North Carolina, USA	Nocomis leptocephalus	Fresh	Lab	Night	Z
Biro et al. (2003a)	British Columbia, CA	O. mykiss	Fresh	Field	Day	N
Biro et al. (2003b)	British Columbia, CA	O. mykiss	Fresh	Field	Day	N

Reference	Study Location	Focal Fish Species	Env.	Study Type	Time of Day	Land. or Grad.
Johnsson (2003)	Sweden	O. mykiss	Fresh	Lab	Day	N
Laurel et al. (2003)	Newfoundland, CA	Gadus spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Υ
Shoup (2003)	Ohio, USA	Lepomis macrochirus	Fresh	Lab	Day; Night	Z
Scheuerell & Schindler (2003)	Alaska, USA	O. nerka	Fresh	Field	Day; Night	Υ
Adams et al. (2004)	Florida, USA	Lagodon rhomboides	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Alofs & Polvika (2004)	Washington, USA	Clinocottus acuticeps	Marine	Lab	Day	Z
Biro et al. (2004)	British Columbia, CA	O. mykiss	Fresh	Field	Day; Crep.	Z
Ellis & Bell (2004)	Florida, USA	Cyprinodon variegatus	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Ellis & Bell (2004)	Florida, USA	C. variegatus	Marine	Field	Day	Υ
Hoare et al. (2004)	New Brunswick, CA	F. diaphanus	Marine	Lab	Day	Z
Manderson et al. (2004)	New Jersey, USA	Pseudopleuronectes americanus	Marine	Field	Crep.	Υ
Nakamura & Sano (2004)	Ryukyu Islands, Japan	Stethojulis & Apogon spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Biro et al. (2005)	British Columbia, CA	O. mykiss	Fresh	Field	Day	Z
Chittaro et al. (2005)	Turneffe Atoll, Belize	H. chrysargyreum	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Foam et al. (2005a)	NR	Archocentrus nigrofasciatus	Fresh	Lab	Day	N
Foam et al. (2005b)	NR	A. nigrofasciatus	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Borcherding et al. (2006)	Germany	Perca fluviatilis	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Lister & Neff (2006)	Ontario, CA	L. macrochirus	Fresh	Lab	Day	Z
Baker & Sheaves (2007)	Northern Australia	Various	Marine	Field	Day; Night	Υ
Chiba et al. (2007)	Nova Scotia, CA; S. Carolina, USA	Menidia menidia	Marine	Lab	Day	Z
Holker et al. (2007)	Germany	Rus rutilus, P. fluviatilis, Scardinius erythrophthalmus	Fresh	Field	Day; Night	Z
Horinouchi (2007)	Miura Peninsula, Japan	Acentrogobius spp.	Marine	Field	Day; Night	Z
Rypel et al. (2007)	Andros Island, Bahamas	Eucinostomus spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Υ
Rypel et al. (2007)	Andros Island, Bahamas	Eucinostomus spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Υ
Vilhunen et al. (2008)	Finland	A. trutta	Fresh	Lab	Day	N
Oswald & Robison (2008)	India	Danio rerio	Fresh	Lab	Day	N
Dorenbosch et al. (2009)	Curacao, Netherlands Antilles	H. flavolineatum	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Gorman et al. (2009)	Newfoundland, CA	Gadus spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Z
Gorman et al. (2009)	Newfoundland, CA	Gadus spp.	Marine	Field	Day	Υ

Table 1.1 (Cont.)

Chapter 2. Nocturnal fish utilization of a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone: stage-specific patterns of abundance in four species

Summary

While diel fish migration between mangrove and seagrass habitats has been recognized for decades, quantitative studies have focused mainly on *diurnal* patterns of fish distribution and abundance. In general, previous studies have shown that fish abundances decline with increasing distance from mangroves; however, evidence for such a pattern at night, when many fishes are actively feeding, is scarce. The present study is the first to report *nocturnal* fish abundances along a continuous distance gradient from mangroves across adjacent seagrass habitat (0-120m). Here, I used nocturnal seine sampling to test the null hypothesis (based on diurnal studies and limited nocturnal work) that fish abundance would decrease with increasing distance from shoreline. I focused on species and life-stage-specific abundance patterns of *Lutjanus griseus*, Sphyraena barracuda, Archosargus rhomboidalis, and Haemulon sciurus. Results indicated that assemblage composition and structure differed significantly by season, likely influenced by temperature. However, within each season, fish habitat use pattern at both the assemblage and species-specific level generally failed to support my working null hypothesis. Species-specific analyses revealed that, for most species and life-stages examined, nocturnal abundance either increased or did not change with increasing distance from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. My results suggest that analyses where taxa are grouped to report overall patterns may have the potential to overlook significant species- and stagespecific variation. For fishes known to make nocturnal migrations, I recommend nocturnal sampling to determine habitat utilization patterns, especially when inferring nursery value of multiple habitats or when estimating fish production.

11

Background

Several studies indicate that, during daylight hours, mangrove-lined shorelines can harbor high fish densities with individuals presumably benefitting from reduced predation risk among the prop-roots (e.g., Parrish 1989; Robertson and Blaber 1992; Laegdsgaard and Johnson 1995). Within mangrove shorelines, fish densities tend to be lower at night, as components of the assemblage disperse into adjacent habitats to forage, returning back to the prop roots before, or soon after, daybreak (Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2001; Ley and Halliday 2007). Based on evidence from gut content (Randall 1967), stable isotope (Kieckbusch et al. 2004; Nagelkerken and van der Velde 2004a, b) and tagging investigations (Verweij and Nagelkerken 2007; Luo et al. 2009), seagrass beds are the prime nocturnal feeding destinations, especially for immature stages of snappers (*Lutjanidae*), grunts (*Haemuliae*) and other species that ultimately occupy coral reefs as adults.

While diel fish migration between mangrove and seagrass habitats has been recognized for decades (Hobson 1965; Starck and Schroeder 1970; Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2001), quantitative studies have focused mainly on *diurnal* patterns of fish distribution and abundance at different distances from the mangroveseagrass ecotone. Using a various sampling techniques, these diurnal studies have consistently reported fish densities to be higher near to, as opposed to far from, the mangrove fringe (Thayer et al. 1987; Laegdsgaard and Johnson 1995; Nagelkerken et al. 2001; Newman and Gruber 2002; Christian 2003; de la Moriniere et al. 2004; Jelbart et al. 2007; Newman et al. 2007; Unsworth et al. 2008; Unsworth et al. 2009). However, interpreting fish utilization patterns in nearshore seagrass beds based on diurnal observations alone may be misleading, especially when inferring the nursery "value" (Beck et al. 2001) of single or multiple habitat types, or for estimating secondary production of fishes (e.g., Valentine-Rose et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008a).

To date, only a few studies have reported nocturnal fish density patterns in seagrass beds at various distances from mangrove shoreline. Off the southwestern coast of Florida (USA), Christian (2003) compared nocturnal fish densities via visual surveys in seagrass beds 10 m versus 30 m from the mangrove fringe. Finding fish densities to be uniformly low and that density differences between sampling locations were insignificant, Christian (2003) concluded that nocturnal foraging migrations, if present, extended beyond the range of her sampling effort. Off southwestern Australia, Jelbart et al. (2007) conducted diurnal and nocturnal seine sampling in seagrass beds < 200 mversus > 500 m from mangroves and found that fish densities decreased with increasing distance from shore by day as well as by night. Finally, off Hoga Island, Indonesia, Unsworth et al. (2008) compared diel fish densities using seine sampling in seagrass beds < 50 m versus 3.5 to 6.5 km from shore and reported that by both day and night, fish abundance in close proximity to mangroves was at least twice that found in seagrass beds that were more distant from shore. However, resolving nocturnal fish abundancemangrove proximity relationships in seagrass beds from the above studies is difficult given that: (1) each study only compared two distances; (2) distance differences may have been either too small (Christian 2003) or large (Jelbart et al. 2007; Unsworth et al. 2008) to reveal the nature of abundance-proximity relationships (e.g., linear or parabolic), if they existed; and (3) results were not broken down, for the most part, at the speciesand stage-specific level.

Because no studies have reported nocturnal fish abundances along a continuous distance gradient from mangrove edge across adjacent seagrass habitat, I conducted a study in subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida, USA - a marine system rimmed by mangroves (mostly *Rhizophora mangle*) that transition into dense seagrass (mostly Thalassia testudinum). While several recent studies have examined seasonal and spatial patterns of fish use of Biscayne Bay's mangrove habitats, all have been focused on diurnal observations along the mangrove fringe (Serafy et al. 2003; Serafy et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008b). In the present study, I used nocturnal seine net sampling to investigate nocturnal fish habitat use patterns at 20 m intervals along a 120 m- transect extending from the mangrove edge across adjacent seagrass habitat. I tested the null hypothesis (based on diurnal studies and the nocturnal results of Jalbert et al. 2007 and Unsworth et al. 2008) that fish abundance would decrease with increasing distance from shoreline. Prior to this study I conducted some diurnal seine sampling within Biscayne Bay and also found that fish abundance patterns decreased with distance from shore (see Appendix A). My focus is on abundance and size information pertaining to four fishes: great barracuda (Sphyraena barracuda), seabream (Archosargus rhomboidalis), bluestriped grunt (*Haemulon sciurus*) and gray snapper (*Lutjanus griseus*). These fishes were selected because: (1) they are among the most abundant and easily identified to species level; (2) each is representative of a different trophic guild (great barracuda piscivore, seabream - herbivore, bluestriped grunt - crustacean zoobenthivore, gray snapper - generalist omnivore); and (3) two have economic importance (great barracuda and gray snapper), especially in the recreational fishery of the region.

Materials and methods

Study site

This study was conducted over two seasons (wet season: July – October, 2007; dry season: January-April, 2008) along the eastern boundary of southern Biscayne Bay, Florida, USA along the leeward side of Elliott Key between latitudes N 25.427164 and N 25.406472 (Fig. 2.1). Sampling was conducted along three, 120 m-long transects that extended perpendicularly from shore and shared the following characteristics: (1) consistently high seagrass and macroalgae bottom cover (mean: 91 % \pm 8.0 SD); (2) consistently shallow depths (mean: 88 cm \pm 14 SD) out to 120 m from shore; and (3) stable annual salinity due to its close proximity to oceanic waters (mean: 37 \pm 1.0 SD). Collectively, the above characteristics were chosen to reduce within- and betweentransect variation in factors that might cloud relationships between fish abundance and distance from the mangrove shoreline. At these sites, water temperature varies somewhat between seasons (mean wet season: 32 °C \pm 1.0 SD; dry season: 24 °C \pm 2.0 SD); but within a season, water temperature is virtually identical within and between transects.

Fish Sampling

Center-bag seine nets (21.3 m long, 1.8 m high, 3 mm mesh) were used to sample fishes every 20 m along the three, 120 m-long transects (Fig. 2.1D). Although no gear is without bias, seine nets were selected because this gear has been found as an effective tool for examining the abundance patterns of the fishes under investigation in the current study (e.g. Newman et al. 2007). Moreover, previous diurnal studies using seine nets at this and other sites have found fish abundances patterns that decline with increasing distance from shore (e.g. Jelbart et al. 2007; Newman and Gruber 2002; Appendix A). A 120-m transect was selected, because 120 m was the maximum distance from shore where depths were consistently shallow enough to permit sampling with seine nets. My seining technique followed Purtlebaugh and Rogers (2007), whereby nets are hauled parallel to shore, against the current (or wind if stronger) and pursed such that a standardized area of 142 m² was sampled with each haul. At least two seine samples were collected simultaneously and the sequence at which each distance was sampled was chosen randomly. At each sampling event, seining began in complete darkness, a half an hour after sunset, occurred within 2.5 hrs of low tide and all sampling took less than 2 hrs to complete. Each transect was visited on different days within each season to enable the collection of three to four seine samples for each transect-distance-season combination.

Life History Stage (LHS) Designation

All collected fishes were identified to species and measured to the nearest mm total length (TL). Fish length information and published size-age relationships (de Sylva 1963; Billings and Munro 1974; Manooch III and Matheson III 1981; Stoner and Livingston 1984; Domeier et al. 1996) were used to assign all individuals to one of two life-history stages (LHS). Individuals measuring less than reported size at age 1 were designated as early juveniles and those larger than age-one size, but smaller than reported size at maturity were designated as late juveniles.

Data Analyses

Assemblage Level

Multivariate analysis was used to investigate potential differences in focal fish assemblage composition and structure among seasons, transects and distances from shore. Following the approach used by Ley and Halliday (2007), stepwise one-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) was employed to assess the influence of each factor (season, transect, distance) separately. Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients were generated based on fourth-root-transformed fish densities to create the similarity matrix (Clarke and Warwick 1994). Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (MDS) in conjunction with hierarchical agglomerative cluster analysis, incorporating group-average linking, was used to search for transect and distance groupings based on the similarity matrix generated (Clarke and Warwick, 1994). All multivariate analyses were performed using Plymouth Routines in Marine Environmental Research (PRIMER) (copyright M.R. Carr and K.R. Clarke, Marine Biological Laboratory, Plymouth, UK; Clarke and Warwick, 1994). Statistical significance was declared at the P < 0.05 level.

Species- and Stage-Specific Level

Spatial patterns of fish density were examined by comparing seine catches of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda along the distance gradient. At the species- and LHS-specific level, density data were positively skewed and zero values predominated and thus were inappropriate for use in conventional parametric statistical analyses. Therefore, species- and stage- specific mean densities (per 142 m²) for each season-transect-distance combination were determined using a delta-distribution mean estimator (Fletcher et al. 2005): a measure of fish density that separately considers the proportion of samples positive for a given assemblage component (i.e., frequency of occurrence) and its mean density when present (i.e., concentration). This approach was previously used to examine mangrove fish density patterns in Biscayne Bay (Faunce and Serafy 2007; Serafy et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008a,b). Among-transect differences in absolute abundances have the potential to obscure overall relative abundance-

proximity patterns. Therefore, to reveal overall density patterns with distance, I expressed transect-specific fish densities as residuals about their transect-specific means (Winer 1971). Using SAS (1990) statistical software, these standardized, zero-centered values were then regressed against distance from shore by applying linear and quadratic models. Statistical significance was declared at the P < 0.05 level.

Results

General

A total of 134 nocturnal seine samples (62 wet season; 72 dry season) yielded 1,706 specimens of the four focal species, which ranged in size from 3.5 to 30.0 cm TL (Table 2.1). For all four species, early-juveniles were composed of individuals less than 10 cm TL; late-juvenile stages included fishes up to 20 cm TL for seabream, 25 cm TL for gray snapper and bluestriped grunt, and 30 cm TL for great barracuda. Of the 134 samples, the percentage of samples positive for the early stages of the focal species ranged from 22.4 % to 91 %; those positive for the late stages ranged from 32.8 % to 65.7 %. Other fishes captured included: redfin needlefish (*Strongylura notata*), pipefish (*Syngnathidae sp.*), bandtail puffer (*Sphoeroides spengleri*), checkered puffer (*Sphoeroides testudineus*), Gulf toadfish (*Opsanus beta*), yellow stingray (*Urolophus jamaicensis*) and striped mullet (*Mugil cephalus*). However, catches of these species were too sparse for statistical treatment.

Assemblage Level

Overall, multivariate analyses (cluster, MDS, ANOSIM) indicated that season exerted the strongest effects on the focal species assemblage composition and structure (ANOSIM, P<0.001, Table 2.2); thus, subsequent analyses were conducted by season. Within the wet season, there was a significant difference between distances from shore (P<0.003), but not among transects. Similarly, during the dry season, the assemblage differed significantly between distances from shore (P<0.016), but not among transects. Both cluster and MDS analysis within each season (grouped by transect) revealed that assemblage composition and structure closest to the mangroves differed from the rest (Fig. 2.2A,B). Within both seasons, samples closest to the mangroves separated at about 80 % similarity level, while the remaining 5 distances were similar at \geq 90 % similarity.

Species- and LHS- Specific Level

With two exceptions, my data failed to support my working hypothesis that nocturnal fish abundance would decline with increasing distance from shore (Fig. 2.3, 2.4). The exceptions were dry season patterns of early juvenile seabream and great barracuda. Otherwise, each component's abundance trend was either uniform across the distance gradient, increased linearly or was parabolic. Among the early juveniles, the following density-distance patterns emerged: (1) *uniform* – gray snapper (dry and wet season), bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda (wet); (2) *negative linear (i.e., decrease with distance)* – seabream and great barracuda (dry); and (3) *parabolic* – bluestriped grunt (dry). The following density-distance patterns emerged for the late juveniles: (1) *uniform*- bluestriped grunt (wet), gray snapper and barracuda (dry); (2) *positive linear (i.e., increase with distance)* – bluestriped grunt (dry), gray snapper and seabream (wet); and (3) *parabolic* – seabream (dry) and great barracuda (wet).

Discussion

Nocturnal sampling along a distance gradient from mangrove edge across adjacent seagrass habitat (0-120 m) revealed fish habitat use patterns at the assemblage and the species- LHS- specific level that diverge from the reported pattern of decreasing density with increasing distance from shore observed diurnally (and in two cases nocturnally: Jalbert et al. 2007 and Unsworth et al. 2008) in a wide range of tropical and subtropical systems. Within each season, the assemblage differed according to distance from shore, with the zone closest to the mangrove edge being significantly distinct. Species-specific analyses revealed mostly uniform patterns of abundance with distance from shore for early juveniles. Except for the piscivorous *S. barracuda*, the zone nearest the mangrove edge tended to harbor the lowest fish densities for late juveniles. I suspect fewer patterns of fish decline with distance from the mangrove edge will emerge as more nocturnal, as opposed to diurnal, fish density data are collected.

My ability to contrast these results with other studies is limited because comparable investigations are lacking. Several authors also have found lower densities of gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda within or near the mangroves at night versus the day (Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2001; Christian 2003; Yeager and Ariaz-Gonzalez 2008). Recent acoustic tracking studies of juvenile gray snapper have demonstrated that at sunset, these fishes migrate rapidly out of the mangroves in a synchronized fashion and do not forage in seagrass nearest the mangroves, but rather offshore (Luo et al. 2009; S. Whitcraft, Pers. Comm.). However, these studies could not determine where or how far the snappers moved offshore due to the ~500 m detection range of the acoustic receivers (a limitation of the technology). Without presenting data, Starck and Davis (1966) commented that gray snapper feed up to 1.6 km from diurnal resting areas on the reef. Working in Spanish Water Bay, Curacao, Verweij and Nagelkerken (2007) reported that French grunt (*Haemulon flavolineatum*) and bluestriped grunt moved a mean distance of 23 m from mangroves to adjacent seagrass beds in the afternoon, presumably to begin foraging at night. On a coral reef, Ogden and Ehrlich (1977) reported grunts migrating up to 300 m at night to feed, while Stark and Davis (1966) claimed that bluestriped grunt fed as much as 400 m from their nearest point of diurnal concentration.

From the present study, I can only speculate as to the mechanisms driving fish habitat use decisions; however, because fish are feeding at night, it seems likely that their abundance patterns are related to prey availability. For example, gray snapper and bluestriped grunt feed on a wide variety of benthic invertebrates, with late-stages consuming larger invertebrates and, in the case of gray snapper, also small fishes (Randall 1967; Starck and Schroeder 1970; de la Moriniere et al. 2003; Nagelkerken et al. 2006). Perhaps some of these species tended to avoid foraging near the mangroveseagrass ecotone, due to low prey supply there. This may result from fishes occupying mangrove shorelines during the day and overgrazing prey under or within meters of the prop-roots (i.e., creating a halo affect) as has been found in reef systems (Hay 1984). But, working in different systems, Rodriguez and Villamizar (2000), Skilleter et al. (2005), Kopp et al. (2007) all found that abundance of invertebrate prey was highest (not lowest) nearest the mangroves and decreased with increasing distance from shore. Moreover, late-stage seabream are herbivorous feeding primarily on aquatic vegetation (Randall 1967; Vaughan 1976; Stoner and Livingston 1984). However, their densities were also
lowest nearest the mangroves where vegetation cover and seagrass canopy height were highest. With a few exceptions, early-juvenile fishes in both seasons generally followed a uniform distribution pattern with distance from shore. Vegetation cover and canopy height was relatively high across the distance gradient. Seagrass and macroalgae cover averaged 90 % (minimum 66 %, maximum 99%) in both seasons. Thus, the observed uniform abundance pattern of early juveniles may reflect sufficiently high vegetation cover and seagrass canopy height (above some threshold level) along the distance gradient providing early juveniles with ample prey supply and shelter to forage. However, to adequately explore relationships between nocturnal fish utilization and prey supply in my study domain, gut content analysis and prey distribution studies are needed.

Nocturnal fish habitat use at this site may also be influenced by predation risk. For example, several fishes may be avoiding the mangrove-seagrass edge due to increased risk of predation there at night. Transition zones between refuges and feeding areas are potentially predictable "hot spots" in space and time where animals are vulnerable to predation (Decamps and Naiman 1998; Sheaves 2005). At night, when secondary consumers leave the safety of the mangroves to feed on emerging benthic or epibenthic prey, tertiary predators may patrol the mangrove shoreline to ambush them. For example, great barracuda are piscivorous (de Sylva 1963; Schmidt 1989) and they may be positioning themselves to ambush small fishes migrating about the mangroves and feeding offshore. Thus, the mangrove-seagrass interface and its surroundings may act as a gauntlet to fishes migrating to forage, especially between dawn and dusk when predators have a visual advantage (Munz and McFarland 1973). Organisms may be at highest risk from predation when crossing ecotones between sheltered and feeding patches. For example, Shulman (1985) and Sweatman and Robertson (1994) provided experimental evidence that juvenile fishes avoided seagrass bordering the coral reef edge, along a reef-seagrass gradient, due to increased predator encounters. Exploring gradients of predation pressure to fishes along the distance gradient (e.g., via tethering experiments) would provide a means to quantify relative predation pressure with mangrove proximity (Aronson and Heck 1995; Baker and Sheaves 2007).

Conclusions and implications

Although it is well recognized that a large portion of fish feeding activity primarily occurs at night, studies examining nocturnal fish utilization of mangroves and seagrass beds are extremely limited. For example, Faunce and Serafy (2006) reviewed 111 studies published between 1955 and 2005 examining fish habitat use in mangrove systems; of these, only 6 (5%) were conducted at night. In a recent international symposium on mangroves as fish habitat (Serafy and Araujo, eds. 2007), only one of the 25 (4%) published studies reported on fish abundance at night (Ley and Halliday 2007). My investigation of nocturnal fish habitat use across a mangrove-seagrass distance gradient revealed abundance-distance trends that varied according to season, species and life-stage. Further nocturnal investigations of fish habitat use in mangrove-seagrass systems would provide valuable insight into the ecology of nearshore fishes. In my study, the mangrove-seagrass ecotone generally harbored low densities of late-juvenile gray snapper, seabream and bluestriped grunt. My results support the notion imparted by Ley and Halliday (2007) that progress toward identifying general trends in habitat selection of fishes might be achieved by focusing survey efforts on ecotones at a time (i.e., night) when feeding occurs.

It is worth considering that my results are based on sampling that took place relatively early in the night. Thus, it is possible that fish distributions during this period may not be the same as much later in the night or just before dawn the next morning. It is possible that as the night progresses, fishes may become satiated and return to the mangroves and exhibit declines in distribution with distance from shore. However, Luo et al. (2009) tracked gray snapper in Biscayne Bay and found that snapper left the mangroves at sunset to forage offshore and did not return until the following morning. I recommend that future work at this site investigate if and how fish distributions may change throughout the course of the night.

Previous diurnal studies investigating fish abundance in relation to mangroves have generally analyzed data where taxa were either grouped by species, trophic level, and/or life-history stage. Here, density patterns clearly varied by species and life-history stage. This suggests that analyses where taxa are grouped to report overall patterns may have the potential to overlook significant species- and stage-specific variation. This has implications for fisheries management of economically important species, which typically operates at the species- and stage- specific level.

Recent research has focused on determining habitat-specific secondary production rates of nearshore fishes for conservation and management purposes, such as prioritizing areas for marine reserve planning (Mumby et al. 2004; Valentine-Rose et al. 2007), identifying nursery habitats (Beck et al. 2001) or effective juvenile habitats (Dahlgren et al. 2006) and characterizing essential fish habitats (Faunce and Serafy, 2008a). As a result, several recent studies have generated secondary production rates for juvenile fishes occupying mangroves based on diurnal surveys. For example, Faunce and Serafy (2008a) reported production estimates for gray snapper in Florida Keys mangroves between 6-11 g m⁻² y⁻¹. Similarly, Valentine-Rose et al. 2007 reported production rates for gray snapper ranging between 50-150 g m⁻² y⁻¹ in mangroves within Bahamian tidal creeks. However, for realistic secondary production estimates, knowledge of the area utilized by the fishes is crucial. The present study reveals patterns of fish utilization of seagrasses at odds with those derived from daytime studies, with some species abundances steadily increasing out to 120 m from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. Thus, secondary production rates calculated for mangrove-dwelling fishes based solely on diurnal studies may be overestimates as the full areal extent of seagrass use has not been taken into account. Moreover, attributing production to a single habitat (e.g. mangroves or seagrass) may be inappropriate since many fishes use multiple habitats over the diel cycle to survive and grow.

My study system is likely to share features in common with other aquatic systems. For example, Dorenbosch et al. (2005) investigated diurnal reef fish abundance along a distant gradient from coral reef across adjacent seagrass. Adult densities of reef fish species were highest on the coral reef and decreased in adjacent seagrass with increasing distance from reef edge. At night, reef species like *Lutjanidae* and *Haemulidae* leave the reef to forage in habitats up to 1.6 km from diurnal resting areas (Starck and Davis 1966; Ogden and Ehrlich 1977; Burke 1995). This scenario is comparable to the fish habitat use patterns found in the present study. Thus, my approach and conclusions may be applicable to the study of other marine environments.

Table 2.1. Numbers and size composition of early and late juvenile sampled during the wet (n=62 seines) and dry (n=72 seines) season. At each sampling event, seining began a half an hour after sunset in complete darkness and all sampling was completed within 2 hrs. In the wet season, sampling occurred on average between 2030 and 2230 hrs and in the dry season between 1930 and 2130 hrs. See text for more details.

		Nur	nbers Fishes Collected	Total Length (cm)			
Species	Wet	Wet Dry Total (Early-Juv; Late-Juv)		Min	Max	Average	
Gray snapper	78	129	207 (155; 89)	5.20	17.20	10.16	
Bluestriped grunt	619	474	1093 (841; 238)	3.50	21.80	8.00	
Great barracuda	110	57	167 (88; 150)	5.40	18.70	10.83	
Seabream	128	111	239 (91; 70)	3.80	30.00	10.56	

Table 2.2. Results of stepwise one-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM). Overall analysis indicated that season was the strongest grouping factor, thus, subsequent analyses were conducted by season. Within each season, there was a significant difference between distances from shore; but not among transects. The R statistic can range from -1 to 1 with a value of 1 indicating that all replicates within a sample are more similar to each other than to any replicates from the other samples and with a value of 0 indicating that the similarities between and within samples are on average equal. P values indicate if R is significantly different from zero.

Step	Grouping Factor	Factor Analyzed	R %	P Value
1	None	Season	38	0.001
1	None	Transect	4.7	0.095
1	None	Proximity	14.6	0.005
2	Season (Wet)	Transect	10	0.100
2	Season (Wet)	Proximity	33	0.003
3	Season (Dry)	Transect	2.1	0.340
3	Season (Dry)	Proximity	28	0.015



Figure 2.1. Study sites: (A) Map of Florida depicting location of Biscayne Bay; (B) position of study area (black square) on leeward side of Elliott Key within Biscayne Bay; (C) location of sampling transects within the study area; and (D) 120 m distance gradient with 20 m sampling intervals demarcated. The midpoints of the sampling intervals correspond with positions of beach seine bags.



Figure 2.2. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (MDS) plots revealing that samples nearest the mangroves separate from the rest in both the dry (A) and wet (B) season. Dashed lines indicate cluster analysis grouping of samples at about 80 % similarity. Numerical values indicate distance from the mangrove-seagrass shoreline. Success of MDS is measured by a stress coefficient. Stress < 0.05 gives an excellent representation with no prospect for misinterpretation.

Figure 2.3. Relative density-distance patterns for early-juveniles: (A, B) gray snapper; (C, D) bluestriped grunts; (E, F) seabream; and (G, H) great barracuda. Open symbols indicate dry season and solid symbols wet season. Symbol shapes correspond with different transects. Values are standardized (zero centered) transect-specific mean (± 1 standard error) fish densities (per 142 m²). Solid lines and associated R² values indicate significant distance patterns (P < 0.05). Dashed lines and associated R² values indicate marginally significant distance trends (0.05 < P < 0.1).

Fig. 2.3



Figure 2.4. Relative density-distance patterns for late-juveniles: (A, B) gray snapper; (C, D) bluestriped grunts; (E, F) seabream; and (G, H) great barracuda. Open symbols indicate dry season and solid symbols wet season. Symbol shapes correspond with different transects. Values are standardized (zero centered) transect-specific mean (\pm 1 standard error) fish densities (per 142 m²). Solid lines and associated R² values indicate significant distance patterns (P < 0.05). Dash lines and associated R² values indicate marginally significant distance trends (0.05 < P < 0.1).





Chapter 3. Seasonal diet and feeding habits of juvenile fishes foraging along a subtropical marine ecotone

Summary

Relatively few studies have examined seasonal diet variation and trophic relationships among fishes foraging in shallow subtropical waters. In the present study, I sampled consecutive wet and dry seasons within Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA), to examine seasonal diet and feeding habit variation in juvenile gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus), bluestriped grunt (*Haemulon sciurus*), seabream (*Archosargus rhomboidalis*) and great barracuda (Sphyraena barracuda) - four of the Bay's most abundant secondary-tertiary consumers. I found significantly lower feeding intensity during the dry season compared to the wet, which is likely related to lower water temperatures during the former season. Gray snapper fed on a variety of small fishes and crustaceans, while bluestriped grunt fed primarily on caridean shrimp. Seabream fed almost exclusively on vegetation and great barracuda was almost entirely piscivorous. Seasonal shifts in major food resource use generally did not correspond with changes in relative abundance of food supply. Seasonal trophic niche breadth differences were evident for gray snapper, great barracuda and bluestriped grunt; niche breadth was equivalent between seasons for seabream. Based on seasonal food supply in the environment, niche breadth values did not match basic theory predictions, which state that niche breadth should expand as preferred food resources become scarce. Given the seasonal variation in diet and feeding habits, it is important to incorporate seasonal variation when modeling the trophodynamics of shallow subtropical systems or characterizing them as essential fish habitats (i.e., feeding and nursery grounds).

34

Background

Studies of diets and feeding patterns can contribute to an understanding of ecological interactions and community structure (e.g. Winemiller 1989; Krebs 1998; Nagelkerken et al. 2006; Layman et al. 2007). Dietary ecology and feeding habits can be explored by quantifying variation in resource use, feeding intensity and trophic niche breadth. Individuals are predicted to shift resource use in response to food availability in the environment (Stephens and Krebs 1986). Trophic niche breadth can be influenced by a variety of factors, including food diversity (Layman et al. 2007) and intraspecific competition (Svanback and Bolnick 2006); however, basic theory predicts that trophic niche breadth should expand as preferred food resources become scarce (Emlen 1966; Schoener 1971; Sephens and Krebs 1986; Rodel et al. 2004). For fishes, feeding intensity is thought to decrease at lower temperatures (Tyler 1971) due to lower metabolic demands.

Although a number of studies have investigated fish feeding patterns and trophic dynamics in tropical and subtropical marine environments (e.g. Randall 1967; Harrigan et al. 1989; Layman and Sillman 2002), most quantitative trophic studies involving fishes in these systems have either grouped diet data across seasons and/or have not analyzed data to investigate whether seasonal fish diet patterns exist (e.g. Lugendo et al. 2006; de la Moriniere et al. 2003; Nagelkerken and Vandervelde 2004; Nagelkerken et al. 2006; Snodgrass et al. 2008). However, studies from mostly temperate marine and tropical freshwater systems have shown that seasonal changes in resource availability and environmental conditions can influence fish feeding patterns (Winemiller et al. 1989;

Jepsen et al. 1997; Peterson and Winemiller 1997; Laidre and Heide-Jorgenson 2005; Taniniata et al. 2008).

The present study focuses on seasonal diet and feeding patterns of late-stage juvenile gray snapper (Lutianus griseus), bluestriped grunt (Haemulon sciurus), seabream (Archosargus rhomboidalis) and great barracuda (Sphyraena barracuda) within subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA). These fishes were selected because they are among the most abundant species in the bay (Serafy et al. 2003) and two have economic importance in the region's recreational fishery and dive tourism industry (i.e., great barracuda and gray snapper). Biscayne Bay's wet season is characterized by relatively warm water temperatures (~30 °C) and high salinity variation and its dry season by cooler temperatures and low salinity variation (Serafy et al. 2003). Given predictable seasonal variation in environmental conditions, my specific objectives were to examine for seasonal differences in feeding intensity, diet composition and trophic niche breadth. Based on theoretical predictions, I investigated the following questions for juveniles of the four focal species: (1) Is feeding intensity lower in the cool, dry season? (2) Does trophic resource use shift with food abundance? (3) Does trophic niche breadth vary inversely with seasonal food abundance?

Materials and Methods

Study site and physical habitat measurements

This study was conducted along the eastern boundary of southern Biscayne Bay, Florida, USA, along the leeward side of Elliott Key, between latitudes N 25.4271° and N 25.4064° (Fig. 1). Sampling was conducted during two consecutive seasons (wet season: July – October, 2007; dry season: January-April, 2008) by seine netting along three, 120 m-long transects that extended perpendicularly from shore (Fig. 3.1C). Water temperature and salinity were measured along the three 120 m-long transects using YSI ® multi-probe instruments (600XL and 650 MDS). Water depth was measured using a 1 cm demarcated polyvinyl chloride pole.

Fish and food collections

Center-bag seine nets (21.3 m long, 1.8 m high, 3 mm mesh) were used to collect fishes and to quantify their potential prey items along the three 120 m-long transects (Chapter 2). Seine nets were hauled parallel to shore, against the current (or wind, if stronger) and pursed such that a standardized area of 142 m^2 was sampled with each haul. Sampling was conducted in darkness, from 0.5-2.0 h after sunset and within 2.5 hrs of low tide. All collected fishes and invertebrates were identified to species and measured to the nearest mm total length (TL). To permit stomach content analysis, focal fishes were removed from seines immediately after capture and preserved to reduce postcapture digestion that could result in loss of dietary information (Bowen 1996). To halt digestive processes and preserve stomach contents for laboratory analyses, focal fishes were placed in a container of ethanol (80-90 %), a slit was made in the animal's body cavity to accelerate preservation, and containers were then refrigerated. Because seagrass and macroalgae have been previously reported as the primary food items for seabream (Vega-Cendejas and Arreguin-Sanchez 2001), I also quantified vegetation cover every 20 m along the three 120-m transects. This was achieved by estimating the areal percentage of seagrass and algae within 50 cm x 50 cm quadrats (6-10 quadrats per distancetransect). This method was chosen to be consistent with existing aquatic vegetation monitoring programs in the region (Fourqurean et al. 2001; Browder et al. 2009).

Fish Diet

Stomachs were removed from each individual by severing the esophagus, the first few millimeters of the intestine, and the mesentery at its dorsal point of attachment (Bowen 1996). Stomachs were carefully opened by slitting them lengthwise with fine scissors. The presence or absence of food items within individuals was recorded since the percentage of fish with empty stomachs in each season can be used as a metric to compare seasonal feeding intensity (e.g., Laidre and Heide-Jorgenson 2005). Contents of individual stomachs were then sorted and identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level. Volumes of individual food items were quantified by measuring water displacement of food items in graduated cylinders following Winemiller (1990).

Data Analyses

To determine the adequacy of the number of collected fishes for diet description, cumulative food resource curves were created for each species-season combination following Maia et al. (2006). Seasonal differences in fish feeding intensity (i.e., the percentage of fishes with empty stomachs) were compared statistically using chi-square analysis. To quantify the relative importance of different food items seasonally in the diets of the focal fishes, I calculated the percent by volume (% V) of different food items in fish stomachs (following Bowen 1996; Cortes 1997). Percent volume (or weight) of different food items, compared to percent numbers or occurrence, is the better metric for quantifying the relative importance of different food items towards a fish's nutrition since it is the only, of the widely used metrics, which quantifies food types in directly

comparable units (Bowen 1996). Hybrid indices combining all three metrics (e.g. index of relative importance, IRI) are also commonly used; however, Bowen (1996) suggests that these should be avoided since the summing and multiplication of percentages that are dimensionless ratios produces numbers of no definable meaning. Seasonal differences in use of major food resources were compared statistically using Kruskal-Wallis tests in which 'experimental wise' error rate was held at the P < 0.1 level using the Bonferroni method (Sokal and Rohlf 1987).

Seasonal differences in dietary niche breadth (*w*) was calculated for each species using Levins' formula (Levins 1968): $w = 1/\sum (p_j)^2$, where p_j is the proportion of individuals found using resource *j*. Dietary niche breadth values were compared for all species in both seasons. To examine for seasonal differences in food abundance, I compared mean densities of the predominant food items individually and in combination between seasons using t-tests in which 'experimental wise' error rate was held at the P < 0.1 level using the Bonferroni method. Because seabream consumed seagrass and macroalage, I also compared mean vegetation cover along my transects, between seasons, using t-tests. All analyses were conducted on SAS (1990) statistical software.

Results

Abiotic variables

Table 3.1 presents seasonal summaries of abiotic data collected. Water temperature ranges during fish sampling were distinct between seasons (wet season: 29.36 - 33.95 °C; dry season: 19.96 - 27.08 °C), whereas seasonal ranges for the other environmental variables overlapped substantially.

Fish Diets

A total of 134 nocturnal seine samples (62 wet season; 72 dry season) yielded 229 specimens (74 dry season; 155 wet season) of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda for stomach content analysis (Table 3.2). Cumulative food resource curves (Fig. 3.2) for each species-season combination showed a trend toward an asymptote, suggesting that the number of stomachs analyzed in this study was adequate for accurately describing the diet of each focal species in both seasons. Across all four focal species, there were significantly more individuals with empty stomachs in the dry season compared to the wet (Table 3.2).

Gray snapper exhibited the most diverse diet (Table 3.3A; Appendix B). In the dry season, mojarras (*Eucinostomus spp.*), pink shrimp (*Penaeus duorarum*) and caridean shrimp constituted about 60 % of gray snapper diet. However, in the wet season, their diet was made up of a greater variety of crustaceans and teleosts, with gulf toadfish (*Opsanus beta*), hardhead silversides (*Atherinomorus stipes*), caridean shrimp, blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus*), mojarras, rainwater killifish (*Lucania parva*) and pink shrimp accounting for 60% of food items consumed. Of the primary prey items consumed, significantly more silversides were consumed in the wet season versus dry; however, there was no statistically significant seasonal difference in gray snapper consumption of pink shrimp, caridean shrimp, rainwater killifish, blue crabs or mojarras.

For bluestriped grunt, a large amount of unidentifiable, highly digested, material was found in their stomachs, likely due to the relatively rapid digestion of invertebrate skeletons (Table 3.3B; Appendix B). Of the identifiable items, caridean shrimp and vegetation accounted for 60 % of their diet in the dry season, whereas caridean shrimp

and vegetation constituted about 50 % of bluestriped grunt diet in the wet season. This seasonal difference in the amount of caridean shrimp and vegetation consumed by bluestriped grunt was not statistically significant.

Aquatic vegetation, particularly seagrass *Thalassia testudinum* and macroalgae, dominated the diet of seabream in both seasons (%V=76.92 dry, 86.36 wet) (Table 3.3C; Appendix B). This difference emerged as statistically significant.

The diet of great barracuda was composed almost exclusively of teleosts in both seasons (Table 3.3D; Appendix B). In the dry season, hardhead silverside and rainwater killifish constituted 72 % of barracuda diet. However, in the wet season, their diet was made up of a greater variety of teleosts, with *Anchoa* sp., redfin needlefish (*Strongylura notate*), mojarras and hardhead silversides accounting for 78 % of food items consumed. Of the primary prey items consumed, significantly more silversides were consumed in the wet season versus dry; however, there was no significant seasonal difference in barracuda consumption of mojarras and rainwater killifish.

Food abundance in the environment & consumption by fishes

Table 3.4 presents seasonal summaries of environmental abundances of major food items consumed by the focal fishes. Significant seasonal differences in mean abundances of silversides, mojarras and pink shrimp were found at my site (Table 3.4). In terms of aggregate food abundances (i.e., all food types combined for a particular species), I did not find any significant seasonal differences.

For gray snapper, seasonal shift in consumption of silversides, rainwater killifish, pink shrimp and caridean shrimp corresponded with a shift in their environmental abundance (Fig. 3.3A). In contrast, the respective abundances of mojarras and blue crabs showed a declining trend from the dry to the wet season, while their importance in gray snapper diet was equivalent with a tendency for increase. For bluestriped grunt, consumption of caridean shrimp was highest in the dry season, when environmental abundances were lowest (Fig. 3. 3B). Bluestriped grunt consumption of vegetation was highest in the dry season, while mean vegetation cover at my site was equivalent with a tendency for increase in the dry season. For seabream, ingestion of vegetation (their primary food) was significantly higher in the wet season, although mean vegetation cover was similar in both seasons (Fig. 3.3C). Consumption of silversides and rainwater killifish by great barracuda was higher in the dry season, while abundances of silversides and rainwater killifish in the environment tended to be higher in the wet season, while their importance in great barracuda diet tended to be higher in wet.

Trophic Niche Breadth

Trophic niche breadth was higher in the wet season versus the dry for gray snapper and great barracuda (Fig. 3.4). In contrast, niche breadth of bluestriped grunt was higher in the dry season. For seabream, trophic niche breadth was similar between seasons.

In terms of examining if niche breadth varies inversely with seasonal food abundance in the environment, trophic niche breadth of gray snapper increased from the dry to the wet season; but, their food supply tended to show the opposite pattern (Fig 3.5A). For great barracuda, trophic niche breadth and food supply were both higher in the wet, compared to the dry season (Fig 3.5B). Trophic niche breadth of both bluestriped grunt and seabream was higher in the dry season, while their food supply showed a similar trend (Fig 3.5C, D).

Discussion

In the present study, I conducted a diet analysis of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda inhabiting the shallows of subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida. Gray snapper was a generalist forager, feeding on a variety of small fishes and crustaceans, while bluestriped grunt fed primarily on caridean shrimp and in the dry season, also vegetation. Seabream fed mostly on vegetation and great barracuda was almost entirely piscivorous. These feeding habits are consistent with previous studies from nearby areas (gray snapper: Odum 1970; Starck and Schroeder 1970; Harrigan et al. 1989; Layman and Silliman 2002; bluestriped grunt: Randall 1967; Sierra et al. 2001; Layman and Silliman 2002; de la Moriniere et al. 2003; seabream: Vaughan 1976; Sierra et al. 2001; Vega-Cendejas and Arreguin-Sanchez 2001; Nagelkerken et al. 2006; great barracuda: de Sylva 1963; Randall 1967; Schmidt 1989; Lugendo et al. 2006). Because seasonal changes in resource availability and environmental conditions can influence fish feeding patterns, I analyzed my diet data for seasonal differences in feeding intensity, diet composition and trophic niche breadth to address the following three questions.

Is fish feeding intensity lower in the cool dry season?

For all focal fishes, feeding intensity was significantly lower during the dry season when water temperatures were about 8 °C cooler than the wet season. My data are consistent with others' suggesting fish feeding rates decrease as water temperature drops

(Tyler 1971). Jardas et al. (2004) reported that feeding intensity of horse mackerel, *Trachurus trachurus*, collected from the Adriatic Sea was lower in the winter due to both reduced food abundance and lowered fish metabolism. Because aggregate food abundances did not vary substantially across seasons at my site for all four focal species (Table 3.4), I hypothesize that reduced feeding intensity during the dry season was primarily due to their depressed metabolic rates.

Diet studies from back-reef systems rarely report the percentage of fish sampled with empty stomachs. Of those that have presented this information, relatively high percentages of fishes sampled with empty stomachs have been found. Previous studies have reported that between 52 % (Starck and Schroeder 1970) and 69 % (Randall 1967) of gray snapper sampled had empty stomachs, as did between 44 % (Randall 1967) and 47 % (Schmidt 1989) of great barracuda and 43% of bluestriped grunt sampled (Randall 1967). In contrast, in this study (Table 3.2), I found relatively lower proportion of fishes with empty stomachs, especially during the wet season. This may be due to two factors. First, I used a sampling method that permitted rapid removal of fish from gear and immediate preservation, which minimized post-capture digestion (Bowen 1996). Second, and perhaps most important, all my sampling took place at night – a time when the focal fish species are likely foraging (Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000; Chapter 2). Most studies examining stomach contents of nearshore fishes have made collections during daylight hours, which is a time when many mangrove and reef associated species, such as snappers and grunts, predominantly shelter in mangroves and are not, for the most part, feeding. My results are consistent with those reported by Odum (1970) who also conducted some diel sampling using seine nets, fish traps and poison in

nearby Florida Bay area. Odum (1970) found that nocturnal sampling resulted in nearly 30 % more gray snapper with stomach contents present (empty \sim 20 % day vs. 5 % night).

Does seasonal fish resource use shift in response to food abundance?

For gray snapper, in four of six cases a seasonal shift in individual diet items corresponded with a food abundance shift in the environment (Fig. 3.3A). For bluestriped grunt, trends in resource use and environmental abundance were opposite to expectations of foraging in proportion to food supply (Fig. 3.3B). For seabream, ingestion of vegetation was significantly higher in the wet season, although mean vegetation cover was similar across seasons (Fig. 3.3C). For great barracuda, seasonal differences in consumption of individual diet items did not correspond with seasonal differences in food abundance in the environment (Fig. 3.3D). My data suggest that for the most part, shifts in seasonal food abundance are not driving shifts in fish resource use at my study site. One factor that may influence seasonal resource use at my site is competition. The mangrove shorelines of Biscayne Bay are inhabited by a diverse group of juvenile fishes which may be competing for food resources (Serafy et al. 2003; Serafy et al. 2007). Winemiller (1989) studied the feeding habits of nine piscivores from a diverse tropical fish assemblage in a Venezuelan creek. He suggested that during certain times of year, competition among fishes was high and this was ultimately driving their resource use. Another unmeasured variable that may have influenced seasonal fish feeding decisions at my site was predation risk. If predation risk varies spatially or seasonally, foragers should forego foraging opportunities for relative safety (see Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998 for reviews). For example, Dahlgren and Eggleston (2000) found that in Bahamian tidal

creeks, juvenile Nassau Grouper (*Epinephelus striatus*) trade-off food for safety by feeding in algal clumps offering relatively less food, but which are safer from predators. Recent studies are challenging the notion that shallow, back-reef habitats, including mangroves and seagrass beds, harbor low piscivore densities (Baker and Sheaves 2006; Newman et al. 2007; Dorenbosch et al. 2009; Payne and Gillanders 2009; Unsworth et al. 2009). Studies currently underway at my site suggest that nocturnal predation risk to juvenile fishes is relatively high (Chapter 4). Future experiments manipulating both food and predation risk at my site may provide valuable insights into fish foraging decisions.

Does fish trophic niche breadth increase when food abundance seasonally decreases?

Although there have been recent advances in our understanding of factors influencing trophic niche breadth (e.g. Svanback and Bolnick 2006), basic theory predicts that trophic niche breadth should expand as food abundance decreases (Emlen 1966; Schoener 1971; Sephens and Krebs 1986; Rodel et al. 2004). This is because when food is scarce, foragers cannot afford to bypass available prey items. Several studies have obtained results consistent with this hypothesis (e.g. McKaye and Marsh1983; Rodel et al. 2004). Examining seasonal feeding habitats of piscivorous fish in a swamp-creek in Venezuela, Winemiller (1989) found that fish niche breadth increased seasonally when fish population densities were highest and availability of invertebrate prey was reduced. However, my data generally failed to support this scenario (Fig. 3.5). In fact, for great barracuda, bluestriped grunt and seabream, there was a tendency for the opposite pattern: higher trophic niche breadth in the season where food abundance was also higher. Only trophic niche breadth of gray snapper was higher in the season when food supply tended to be lower, but the seasonal differences in their food supply were not statistically significant. The lack of consistency between my results and basic theoretical predictions may be due to the fact that seasonal food abundances may not be limiting at my site. Individuals are predicted to only add new prey types to their diet as preferred prey become scarce. My data may reflect that densities of focal fish food are relatively high during both seasons, despite apparent seasonal differences.

The results of this study have implications for fishery management and conservation. Recent work has aimed at evaluating effects of habitat change on trophodynamics. For example, working in Bahamian Tidal creeks, Layman et al. (2007) found that trophic niche width of gray snapper declined due to the loss of food diversity following anthropogenic habitat fragmentation. Biscayne Bay has lost over 80 % of its mangrove fringe habitats; my study area within the Bay has not yet been similarly impacted by any noticeable anthropogenic habitat modifications (Milano et al. 2007). However, the present study provides baseline data on fish feeding intensity, diet composition and niche breadth to compare against any possible future ecosystem changes at my site. Data from the current project may also be useful for those developing trophic models as tools for understanding multi-species fisheries (e.g. Christensen and Pauly, 1992; Walters et al., 1997). Based on my diet data, I constructed simple trophic diagrams for both the wet and dry season (Fig. 3.6). The food webs presented here may be useful for future studies exploring predator-prey interactions at this site, investigating impacts of environmental change or for testing various environmental or anthropogenic scenarios using ecosystem models. These types of models and other modeling approaches are expected to be more heavily utilized as management agencies move towards more ecosystem-oriented approaches to resource management.

	Dry	Season		Wet Season				
Env. Variable	Mean ± SE	Min	Max	Mean ± SE	Min	Max		
Temperature (°C)	23.9 ± 0.28	19.96	27.08	32.19 ± 0.25	29.36	33.95		
Salinity (ppt)	37.8 ± 0.09	36.37	38.85	36.5 ± 0.27	34.16	38.75		
Depth (cm)	80.9 ± 2.47	49.00	116.00	94.06 ± 2.85	55.00	120.00		

Table 3.1. Mean and range of abiotic environmental variables measured at the study site in dry and wet season: water temperature, salinity and depth.

Table 3.2. Sample sizes and size ranges of late-juvenile fishes collected at night for stomach content analysis. Collection seasons are indicated. Numbers in parenthesis indicate percentage of empty stomachs. P-values indicate seasonal difference in proportion of fish with empty stomachs (i.e., feeding intensity) based on chi-square analysis.

Species	Size range	Wet Season	Dry Season	Total	P value
Gray snapper	10.4 - 31.0 cm TL	49 (8 %)	25 (48 %)	74 (22 %)	< 0.0001
Bluestriped grunt	9.1 - 23.6 cm TL	20 (30 %)	18 (67 %)	38 (47%)	< 0.02
Seabream	10.1 - 23.2 cm TL	56 (0 %)	22 (27 %)	78 (7 %)	< 0.0001
Great barracuda	11.2 - 33.0 cm TL	30 (3 %)	9 (33 %)	39 (10 %)	< 0.009

Table 3.3. Seasonal diet compositions of late-juvenile gray snapper (A), bluestriped grunt (B), seabream (C) and great barracuda (D) collected at night in Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA). Values are the percent by volume (% V) contribution of different food items in fish diets.

Table 3.3

(A) Lutjanus griseus						
Food items	Dry Season	Wet Season				
Teleosts						
Atherinomorus stipes	0.00	11.83				
Eucinostomus spp.	2.84	4.94				
Lucania parva	0.00	4.24				
Floridichthys carpio	0.00	0.26				
Opsanus beta	0.00	23.15				
Unknown or other	34.09	21.37				
Crustaceans						
Penaeus duorarum	34.09	1.31				
Caridean shrimp	24.15	9.28				
Callinectes sapidus	0.00	5.14				
Amphipod	0.00	0.05				
Unknown or other	0.00	13.04				
Echinoderm	0.00	0.13				
Vegetation	1.70	2.37				
Other	0.00	0.03				
Unknown Material	3.13	2.85				
(B) Haen	nulon sciurus					
Food items	Dry Season	Wet Season				
Crustaceans						
Caridean shrimp	15.38	47.67				
Amphipod	15.38	0.00				
Unknown or other	23.08	7.77				
Mollusc	0.00	0.52				
Vegetation	30.77	1.04				
Other	0.00	0.52				

Unknown Material	15.38	42.49							
(C) Archosargus rhomboidalis									
Food items	Dry Season	Wet Season							
Teleosts									
Atherinomorus stipes	0.00	0.61							
Crustaceans									
Caridean shrimp	22.62	1.60							
Amphipod	0.00	0.10							
Unknown or other	0.45	0.15							
Mollusc	0.00	0.02							
Vegetation	76.92	86.36							
Other	0.00	1.84							
Unknown Material	0.00	9.31							

(D) Sphyraena barracuda							
Food items	Dry Season	Wet Season					
Teleosts							
Atherinomorus stipes	64.62	41.25					
Eucinostomus spp.	0.00	5.82					
Lucania parva	6.46	0.86					
Strongylura notata	0.00	13.69					
Anchoa sp.	0.00	17.12					
Unknown or other	27.63	16.09					
Crustaceans							
Carridean shrimp	0.00	0.68					
Unk or other	0.16	0.00					
Vegetation	0.16	1.61					
Unknown Material	0.97	2.88					

Table 3.4. Mean seasonal abundance and range of main food resources (individually and aggregate) for focal species collected from the environment at my study site. GS = gray snapper, BSG = bluestriped grunt, SB = seabream, GB = great barracuda. * indicates significant seasonal difference in environmental food supply based on t-tests in which 'experimental wise' error rate was held at the P < 0.1 level using the Bonferroni method. NS = not significant

	Dry Season				Wet Se				
Food type	Mean	Std Error	Min	Max	Mean	Std Error	Min	Max	Significance
Atherinomorus stipes	44.34	6.28	1.00	346.00	89.37	7.64	2.00	237.00	*
Eucinostomus spp.	58.94	4.50	0.00	167.00	40.68	5.01	0.00	244.00	*
Lucania parva	15.26	1.63	0.00	71.00	16.44	3.41	0.00	160.00	NS
Penaeus duorarum	32.46	4.20	0.00	153.00	17.05	2.20	0.00	88.00	*
Caridean shrimp	172.01	16.51	0.00	877.00	140.00	23.47	0.00	922.00	NS
Callinectes sapidus	0.29	0.08	0.00	3.00	0.08	0.03	0.00	1.00	NS
Vegetation	91.73	1.13	40.00	100.00	89.66	1.10	25.00	100.00	NS
GS Aggregate	323.31	23.29	59.00	1197.00	304.57	29.62	13.00	1038.00	NS
BSG Aggregate	172.01	16.51	0.00	877.00	140.00	23.47	0.00	922.00	NS
SB Aggregate	91.73	1.13	40.00	100.00	89.66	1.10	25.00	100.00	NS
GB Aggregate	118.55	8.65	10.00	479.00	146.49	11.56	3.00	391.00	NS



Figure 3.1. Study sites: (A) Map of Florida depicting location of Biscayne Bay; (B) position of study area (black square) on leeward side of Elliott Key within Biscayne Bay and (C) location of sampling transects within the study area.



Figure 3.2. Cumulative food resource curves for stomachs analyzed of gray snapper (A, B), bluestriped grunt (C, D), seabream (E, F) and great barracuda (G, H). Wet and dry seasons are indicated.



Figure 3.3. Plots comparing seasonal abundance of fish primary food items in the environment relative to seasonal consumption of these food items by gray snapper (A), bluestriped grunt (B), seabream (C) and great barracuda (D). Consumption data correspond to the contribution by volume of different food items to the diets of the focal fishes based on the data presented in Table 3.3. Food supply values correspond with data presented in Table 3.4. Solid lines indicate significant seasonal differences in which 'experimental wise' error rate was held at the P < 0.1 level using the Bonferroni method. "Diet" refers to consumption values of food items in the diet; "Env." refers to food supply values in the environment.



Figure 3.4. Levins' index of trophic niche breadth calculated for gray snapper, seabream, bluestriped grunt and great barracuda in Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA). Dietary niche breadth values were calculated on the percent by volume contribution of different food items in fish diets.



Figure 3.5. Plots comparing seasonal aggregate abundance of primary food items in the environment relative to trophic niche breadths of gray snapper (A), great barracuda (B), bluestriped grunt (C) and seabream (D). Niche breadth values correspond with data presented in Fig. 3.3; food supply values correspond with data presented in Table 3.4. Solid lines indicate significant seasonal differences in which 'experimental wise' error rate was held at the P < 0.1 level using the Bonferroni method."Niche" refers to fish niche breadth values; "Env." refers to food supply values in the environment.


Figure 3.6. Preliminary simple trophic model of focal fishes and their prey from Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA), in the dry season (A) and wet season (B). Focal fishes (top) are arranged from left to right in order of increasing trophic niche breadth based on data presented in Fig. 3.3. The width of linking lines, correspond to the contribution by volume of different food items to the diets of the focal fishes based on the data presented in Table 3.3. GS = gray snapper, BSG = bluestriped grunt, SB = seabream, GB = great barracuda. Abbreviations for food types (bottom) are the first three letters of species names listed in Table 3.3.

Chapter 4. Relative predation risk for juvenile fishes along a subtropical mangroveseagrass ecotone

Summary

Many fishes shelter in mangrove habitats by day and forage mostly in seagrass beds by night. This pattern of diel habitat use has been attributed to a predator avoidance strategy, whereby predation risk is reduced by alternating between the cover afforded by prop-roots during the day and darkness at night. I employed a series of diel tethering experiments in Biscayne Bay (Florida, USA) to empirically (1) examine whether relative predation pressure on fishes is lower at night than during the day; and (2) compare relative predation pressure on fishes at different distances from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. Pinfish (Lagodon rhomboides) ranging 10 to 17 cm total length were tethered during day and night at 10, 50 and 110 m distances from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. Pinfish removal rates at night were twice as high as during the day, which tends to contradict the idea that darkness provides "cover" during nocturnal foraging in seagrass. Predation losses were highest nearest the mangrove edge and decreased with increasing distance from shore. My results agree with those of other tethering studies that marine ecotones, or transition zones between refuges and feeding sites, can be areas of high predation pressure for fishes; there is less agreement among tethering studies that predation in nearshore habitats is higher at night than by day.

Background

Seagrass beds and mangroves are widely recognized as nursery habitats for a variety of coastal fishes, especially for species that occupy coral reefs as adults (Adams et al. 2006a; Blaber 2007; Nagelkerken et al. 2008). Many fishes shelter in mangrove prop-

roots by day, but at night disperse into adjacent seagrass beds to feed (Starck and Schroeder 1970; Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000). These nocturnal movements are presumed to primarily occur due to high food supply and lowered predation risk at night, with darkness providing cover during foraging; however, this assumption has not been empirically tested in mangrove-seagrass systems. Throughout the literature, fishes such as snappers (*Lutjanidae*) and grunts (*Haemulidae*) are cited to forage in seagrass at night, presumably taking advantage of reduced predation risk and increased prey availability as their invertebrate prey emerges from the substrate at night (e.g. Starck and Davis 1966, Nagelkerken et al. 2000; Valdes-Munoz and Mochek 2001; Unsworth et al. 2007).

Reduced predation pressure in mangrove-seagrass habitats is hypothesized to be one of the underlying factors behind the relatively high fish densities found in these habitats (reviewed by Adams et al. 2006a; Blaber 2007; Nagelkerken et al. 2008). Commonly cited factors presumed responsible for lower predation risk within and near mangroves include increasing levels of turbidity, shade, and, structural complexity, which are thought to provide shelter from predators and decrease predator foraging efficiency (Blaber and Blaber 1980; Robertson and Blaber 1992; Laegdsgaard and Johnson 2001). Closer to the prop-roots, fish fleeing distance to mangrove refuges is thought to be reduced and water depths tend to be shallower, which may restrict predator access (Shulman 1985; Rypel et al. 2007; Blaber 2007). Most previous studies, which have been primarily diurnal, have consistently reported increasing fish densities closer to, as opposed to far from, mangroves (e.g. Jelbart et al. 2007; Newman et al. 2007; Unsworth et al. 2008). However, direct field-based evidence evaluating how predation risk varies spatially in seagrass beds in relation to mangrove proximity is lacking.

Ecotones, or habitat transition zones, are recognized as hunting corridors for predators in a variety of systems (Decamps and Naiman 1988; Ries and Sisk 2004). Organisms are likely at highest risk from predation when crossing ecotones between sheltered and feeding patches, due to the high concentration of individuals in refuges and predictability of their foraging movements. For example, off the coast of South Africa, hunting white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) patrol fur seal (*Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus*) refuge entry and exit points in attempts to ambush seals as they leave for, and return from, foraging (Martin et al. 2005; Hammerschlag et al. 2006; Martin et al. 2009). Although previous studies in a variety of habitats (e.g., reefs, Shulman 1985) have reported predation pressure to be high near ecotones, or habitat edges, this has not been previously reported in mangrove-seagrass habitats and is at odds with results of most published fish abundance surveys that indicate highest fish densities nearest the mangroves (Jelbart et al. 2007; Newman et al. 2007; Unsworth et al. 2008).

In Chapter 2, I examined abundance patterns of fishes in subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida, USA - a marine system rimmed by mangroves (mostly *Rhizophora mangle*) that transition into dense seagrass (mostly *Thalassia testudinum*). I found lowest nocturnal densities of several late-stage juvenile fishes foraging near the mangrove-seagrass ecotone relative to further (up to 120 m) offshore. I hypothesized this fish distribution pattern may reflect avoidance of a predator-rich ecotone, which is consistent with the notion that transition zones between sheltered and feeding patches are high risk areas (Chapter 2).

Tethering experiments provide a means of assessing relative risk to juvenile fishes in nearshore environments by measuring predator encounter rates (McIvor and Odum 1988; Aronson and Heck 1995; Baker and Sheaves 2007). Of 22 fish tethering studies in nearshore environments published over the past 24 years (Table 4.1, 4.2), most have been conducted exclusively during the day (77 %), used small (< 10 cm total length, TL) fishes (91 %) and compared removal rates either between different habitats types, substrates or depths (81 %). Diurnal tethering studies have reported that removal rates tend to be lower in mangroves and seagrass beds versus reefs, lower in shallow versus deeper waters, and lower in areas of high versus low vegetation abundance. Only 13 % of studies have directly compared diel differences in risk and none have exclusively focused on predation pressure to juveniles >10 cm TL. However, fishes >10 cm TL correspond to sizes classes best-known to make diel mangrove-seagrass migrations. Also, no studies to date have reported diurnal or nocturnal patterns of predation risk to juvenile fishes in seagrass beds as they relate to proximity from mangrove-seagrass ecotone, despite the fact that predation risk has long been assumed as one of the important factors driving day/night shifts in fish habitat use (Starck and Davis; 1966; Nagelkerken et al. 2000; Nagelkerken et al. 2001; Valdes-Munoz and Mocheck 2001; de la Moriniere et al. 2002; Unsworth et al. 2007).

The present study builds on my previous work in subtropical Biscayne Bay (Florida, USA) by employing a series of tethering experiments to empirically: (1) examine whether relative predation pressure on fishes is lower at night than during the day; and (2) compare relative predation pressure on fishes at different distances from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. I examined for diel and distance patterns of predation

pressure by tethering pinfish (*Lagodon rhomboides*) ranging 10 to 17 cm TL, a length range which corresponds to the size classes of fishes best-known to make diel migrations among seagrass and mangrove habitats.

Material and Methods

Study site

This study was conducted from July to September, 2008, along the eastern boundary of southern Biscayne Bay, Florida, USA, along the leeward side of Elliott Key between latitudes N 25.4271° and N 25.4064° (Fig. 4.1). Sampling was focused along three, 120 m-long transects that extended perpendicularly from shore and shared the following characteristics: (1) consistently high seagrass and macroalgae bottom cover (mean: 90 % ± 8.0 SD); (2) consistently shallow depths (mean: 97 cm ± 14 SD) out to 120 m from shore; and (3) stable salinity (mean: 37 ± 1.5 SD) and temperature (mean: $32^{\circ}C \pm 1.2$ SD) due to its close proximity to oceanic waters. Additionally, seine net sampling indicated that fish assemblage composition and structure at each transect was very similar (Chapter 2). Consistency in the above characteristics across transects limited the possibility that within- and between- transect variation may cloud relationships between relative predation rates and distance from the mangrove shoreline.

Tethering apparatus, design and pilot studies

Tethering experiments have the potential for simple and higher-order artifacts (*sensu* Peterson & Black, 1994) that can confound results. Simple artifacts include alterations in tethered-fish behavior and health, or encounters with predators that may result in changes in tethered fish survivorship. Higher-order artifacts occur when there is

an interaction between the tethering technique and treatment as the effect of tethering on prey vulnerability is assumed to be constant across all treatments. I employed a tethering design aimed at minimizing both types of artifacts.

Juvenile pinfish were used as bait for two reasons. First, pinfish ranging in size from 10 to 20 cm TL – the size class of fishes best known to make diel migrations between seagrass and mangroves (e.g. Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000) – were readily available from commercial suppliers. Second, pilot studies indicated pinfish were relatively robust to the tethering process both physically and behaviorally (see below).

The tethering technique I employed was modified from Ellis and Bell (2004). The gear consisted of: (1) a 2 m-long (11.34 kg test) monofilament center line with a 226.8 g lead weight attached at one end and a small, plastic float attached to the other; and (2) a 1 m –long (11.34 kg test) monofilament tether line. Deployment was carried out in three steps. First, the center line was positioned by pushing the weight into the sediment, allowing the float to sit at the surface. Second, to secure the tether line to a pinfish, one end of the line was threaded through the mouth, out through the operculum, and was tied to form a loose loop, just forward of the pinfish's snout. Compared with more invasive fish attachment techniques, which require hooking or suturing the tether line to the fish (Table 1), the method I employed minimizes tissue damage and the release of body fluids, which could inflate detection and/or vulnerability of tethered prey to predators or scavengers. Finally, to secure the tether to the center line, it was connected to the center line using a snap-swivel (0.5 g). This snap-swivel attachment permitted pinfish to move freely in a vertical cylinder, with a 2-m diameter, from the seagrass to the water surface.

To further minimize interactions between our tethering technique and treatment (which commonly occurs in experiments where predation rates are compared between habitats that differ considerably in physical structure), I conducted all experiments such that the treatments (day-night, distance from prop-roots) were compared within a single habitat type (seagrass beds) with consistently high seagrass cover and blade lengths, uniform depths and stable salinity and temperature regimes.

Prior to my study, I made a series of qualitative laboratory and field observations to evaluate my tethering set-up. Tethered pinfish were held in outdoor, fiberglass tanks (2.3 x 1.9 x 0.7) and monitored with video cameras for 24 hours for changes in condition or behavior as well as to determine if the fish could break from tethers in the absence of predators. During monitoring, no fish died or exhibited signs of injury. Additionally, no fish broke or escaped from their tether lines. During field evaluations, tethered fish maintained equilibrium and showed no signs of erratic swimming behavior. Pinfish routinely swam from the substrate, in and out of seagrass, to the water's surface without entanglement. Tethered pinfish were also observed schooling with conspecifics. No tethering artifacts were observed that would prevent comparison of relative predation rates in seagrass beds versus distance from shore or between day and night.

To determine appropriate soak time, I conducted a series of preliminary tethering experiments at 10, 50 and 110 m distances from shore using soak times of 60, 90 and 120 minutes. In total, I conducted 111 experiments: 60 min. soak (n=36), 90 min. soak (n=42) and 120 min. soak (n=33). I found that 90 and 120 minute deployments resulted in uniformly large proportions of tether losses at all distances from shore due to eventual predation, suggesting that these soak times were too long to resolve predation rate differences among the three distances from shore. On the other hand, 60 min. soak times were optimal among those examined, providing enough time for predation to occur, yet sufficiently brief to resolve distance differences in tether losses.

Tethering experiments

To examine relationships between fish survival and proximity to mangroves, tethered pinfish were deployed at distances of 10, 50, and 110 m from the mangrove shoreline by day and by night. At deployment, pinfish were measured to the nearest mm TL. An experimental trial was composed of a group of six tethered pinfish deployed at each of the three distances from shore (Fig. 4.1D). In each trial, I randomized the sequence in which pinfish were deployed at each distance from shore. Within each distance, pinfish were spaced 10 m apart. All tethers were retrieved after 60 min., with an absence of the pinfish (or presence of a severed fish or predator on the line) scored as a predation event. All experiments occurred within 2.5 hrs of low tide. Daytime tethering began 60 to 90 min. after noon in full daylight; nocturnal tethering began > 0.5 hours after sunset, in complete darkness. Diel and distance differences in predation loss were assessed using Chi-square analysis (SAS, 1990). Throughout, statistical significance was declared at the P < 0.05 level.

Qualitative predator identification efforts

Three complementary techniques were used to qualitatively identify potential predators of mangrove-dwelling fishes at our study site. First, several piscivores were caught by swallowing tethered pinfish, without breaking the line. At retrieval, these predators were identified and measured for TL. Second, five tethering experiments (two during day and three at dusk) were conducted with accompanying underwater video

cameras. Underwater video cameras were placed in the seagrass facing the tether and left recording for 60 min.; tethering experiments were run as described above. Predators observed preying on tethered pinfish were recorded on videotape, identified and TL estimated. Finally, 20 nocturnal gillnet collections were conducted along the three transects at our study site. Gillnet gear specifications (180 x 3 m, 4 5/8" stretched mesh, weighted) and survey procedures followed those used by Heupel et al. (2006) and Wiley and Simpfendorfer (2007). This procedure is highly selective for particular nearshore predators, such as juvenile sharks (Heupel et al. 2006, Wiley & Simpfendorfer 2007). Gill-netted animals were identified, measured for TL and released.

Results

Tethering experiments

In total, 234, 60-minute tethering deployments were conducted (126 during the day and 108 at night) using 10 to 17 cm TL (mean = 12.13 cm \pm 1.4 SD) pinfish. Of the 234 deployments, 87 (37 %) predation events were tallied (i.e., tethered fish were either missing or found severed). Predation rates ranged from 10 % at the furthest distances from shore (110 m) during the day to nearly 70 % at distances nearest the mangroves (10 m) at night. During the day, predation losses decreased significantly with increasing distance from shore (P < 0.009, Fig. 2a). Similarly, nocturnal predation losses significantly decreased with increasing distance from the prop-roots (P < 0.01, Fig. 2b). Removal rates were approximately twice as high at night compared to the day (P < 0.0001).

Qualitative predator identification efforts

During experiments, five piscivores were caught on tethers by swallowing tethered pinfish without breaking the line, permitting their identification. During the day, this included two gray snapper, *Lutjanus griseus* (30 cm each), one great barracuda, *Sphyraena barracuda* (45 cm), one houndfish, *Tylosurus crocodilus* (87 cm), and one nurse shark, *Ginglymostoma cirratum* (45 cm). No predators were caught on tether lines at night. In the five tethering deployments monitored by video, two nurse sharks (approx. 100 cm) were filmed during the day and three juvenile lemon sharks, *Negaprion brevirostris* (approx. 100 cm each), were observed removing tethered pinfish at dusk. Nocturnal gill-netting yielded six juvenile lemon sharks, ranging from 74 to 122 cm TL (mean: 91.2 cm \pm 17.5 SD), and 20 bonnethead sharks, *Sphyrna tiburo*, ranging in size from 68 to 85 cm TL (mean: 76.4 cm \pm 4.6 SD). All lemon shark catches were within 60 m of the mangroves; 60 % were within 40 m of shore. In contrast, 90 % of bonnethead sharks were caught between 120 and 160 m from shore.

Discussion

Reduced predation risk at night is commonly invoked as one of the main reasons for nocturnal movement and feeding in seagrass beds by fishes that shelter in mangrove habitats by day (e.g. Starck and Davis 1966; Nagelkerken et al. 2000; Valdes-Munoz and Mochek 2001). Reduced predation pressure in mangrove-seagrass habitats is also hypothesized to be one of the underlying factors behind the relatively high fish densities found in these habitats (reviewed by Blaber 2007; Nagelkerken et al. 2008). Despite an increasing number of empirical studies from a variety of systems showing that predation pressure is high near habitat edges (Decamps and Naiman 1988; Ries and Sisk 2004), this has not been previously reported in mangrove-seagrass habitats and is at variance with results from most published fish abundance surveys that reveal highest fish densities near, as opposed to far from, the mangroves (e.g. Jelbart et al. 2007; Newman et al. 2007). In the present study, I found that predation rates on 10 to 17 cm TL pinfish at night were nearly twice as high compared to the day, which is inconsistent with the notion that darkness provides "cover" during foraging bouts into seagrass beds. I found fish mortality due to predation was highest nearest the mangrove edge, decreasing with increasing distance from shore.

There have been several recent efforts to identify and describe general patterns of predation pressure to fishes in nearshore environments (Table 4.1, 4.2). Sizes of fishes used in different tethering experiments have ranged from < 3 cm TL (Nakamura and Sano 2004) to a maximum of about 10 cm TL (Laurel et al. 2003; Gorman et al. 2009). However, fishes >10 cm TL correspond to sizes classes best-known to make diel mangrove-seagrass migrations (e.g. Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000). Thus, caution should be exercised when generalizing about patterns of predation risk for fishes that make diel mangrove-seagrass migrations based on previous studies that used fish < 10 cm TL.

No studies to date have reported diurnal or nocturnal patterns of predation risk to juvenile fishes in seagrass beds as they relate to proximity from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. However, four studies in nearshore environments compared diurnal versus nocturnal differences in predation rates (Fig. 4.3A; Danilowicz and Sale 1999; Linehan et

al. 2001; Horinouchi, 2007; Baker and Sheaves 2007). While both Danilowicz and Sale (1999) and Horinouchi (2007) found higher removal rates of tethered fish at night in reef and estuarine habitats, Linehan et al. (2001) and Baker and Sheaves (2007) found the opposite pattern in shallow estuarine habitats (Fig. 4.3A). The diel variation in risk found among these studies could be related to a variety of factors that differed among studies, including sampling habitat, tethered prey species and size.

Although I could not find any tethering studies evaluating patterns of risk relative to mangrove ecotone proximity, I identified three experiments from two tethering studies (Shulman 1985 and Gorman et al. 2009) examining the relationship between predation rates and proximity to other nearshore ecotones (e.g. reef edge). My results of higher rates of predation rates at the mangrove-seagrass interface are consistent with those reported from the other nearshore ecotones (Fig. 4.3B). Shulman (1985) found that predation of small grunt species was 1.4 times higher at the coral reef edge, compared to just 20 m away. Similarly, Gorman et al. (2009) found that predation on age-0 Atlantic cod was more than twice as high at the seagrass-mud boundary compared to just 10 m away in either seagrass or mud habitat.

In Chapter 2, I hypothesized that either low food availability or increased predation risk was responsible for the low nocturnal densities of late- juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream I found foraging near the mangrove-seagrass interface. The results of the present study support the hypothesis that the mangroveseagrass interface and its surroundings may represent a gauntlet for fishes migrating to forage, especially at dusk or night when predators may have a visual advantage (Munz and McFarland 1973). This hypothesis is further supported by studies from nearby sites documenting that lemon sharks, one of the main predators identified in this study, tend to focus search efforts near the mangrove shoreline (Morrissey and Gruber 1993; Franks 2007). Thus, because of the risk associated with the area, fishes may avoid foraging at night near the mangrove-seagrass ecotone.

Sheaves (2005) suggested that studies examining the patterns and timing of fish movement through transition zones can indicate whether species are moving rapidly through dangerous zones or slowly as they follow the tide to feed. Further supporting evidence that the mangrove-seagrass ecotone is an area of high predation pressure - especially at night - comes from recent acoustic tracking of juvenile gray snapper (Luo et al. 2009). This study showed that at sunset, gray snapper migrate rapidly out of the mangroves in a synchronized fashion and do not forage in seagrass nearest the mangroves, but rather move as much as 500 m offshore, returning to the mangroves the following morning.

Predation risk can be decomposed into two components – the probability that a prey encounters a predator and the probability of death as a result of that encounter (Lima and Dill 1990; Hugie and Dill 1994). Probability of death given an encounter is often mediated by differences in habitat characteristics (e.g. amount of physical structure), escape ability and their interaction (Hugie and Dill 1994; Heithaus et al. 2009). Tethering experiments measure predator encounter rates (Peterson and Black 1994; Aaronson and Heck 1995). Given that I conducted all experiments within a single habitat type (seagrass beds) with uniform physical and abiotic variables across my transects, predator encounter rates are likely representative of overall predation risk to juvenile fishes along my distance gradient. However, I must consider that at the mangrove fringe, probability of fish escape back into the mangroves given an encounter with a predator may be higher compared to just several meters away. But, this notion is dependent on fish being able to detect predators patrolling the mangroves, which is likely hindered at night, when predators may have a visual advantage (Munz and McFarland 1973). Pending further studies on the fleeing and predator detection capabilities of vulnerable fishes, I conclude that at our site, as fish begin to migrate away to feed in adjacent seagrass beds, they are likely at high risk nearest shore as compared to further away.

In the present study, I was able to determine the identity of a number of potential predators at my study site. A variety of large piscivores removed tethered fish during the day, including great barracuda, gray snapper and nurse sharks. These species are known predators of small fishes in back-reef habitats (de Sylva 1963; Stark and Schroeder 1970; Castro 2000). During dusk, only juvenile lemon sharks were found removing pinfish. In my nocturnal gillnet surveys, juvenile lemon and bonnethead sharks were caught. Most lemon sharks were captured close to shore, while most bonnethead sharks were caught offshore (> 120 m). Lemon sharks are piscivorous (Newman 2003), while bonnethead sharks are omnivorous, feeding mainly on crustaceans (Bethea et al. 2007). Based on my preliminary results, and those reported from other nearby studies (e.g. Morrissey and Gruber 1993; Franks 2007), I hypothesize that juvenile lemon sharks patrolling the shoreline at night are primarily responsible for the elevated predation rates found closest to the mangroves at night. However, future studies are needed to adequately identify the full suite of predators in my study domain and reveal diel differences, if any.

Although in this study I attempted to minimize tethering artifacts, it is possible that some arose due to inherent limitations of the tethering approach. For example, a tethered pinfish may have struggled on the line, unduly attracting a predator that would otherwise not have normally detected, pursued or been able to capture a pinfish (Adams et al. 2004). However, because experiments were conducted using the same procedure in a single habitat type, I doubt that such artifacts would have varied with distance from shore or by time of day, thus preventing comparisons of *relative* predation rates in seagrass beds versus distance or between day and night.

It is worth considering that my nocturnal results are based on sampling that took place in complete darkness, but still relatively early in the night. Thus, it is possible that predation pressure during this period may not be the same as much later in the night or just before dawn the next morning. Likewise, it is possible that predation pressure varies over the course of the day; I recommend, therefore, that future work investigate if and how predation pressure changes in relation to mangrove proximity over the entire 24 hr cycle. Until then, however, my results support the idea that the mangrove-seagrass ecotone is a high risk area for fishes that conduct diel migrations between mangroves and adjacent seagrass beds.

Prolonged soak times have the potential to reduce differences between tethering treatments due to eventual predation. Additionally, long soak times increase the likelihood of fish fatigue, injury or death, which can result in tether losses due to scavenging or removal by organisms that would otherwise not prey upon un-tethered fish. For example, Dorenbosch et al. (2009) observed tether removals by non-piscivorous fishes, which they suggested may have caused on overestimation of predation pressure. Soak times in the reviewed studies ranged from less than 30 minutes (Laurel et al. 2003; Gorman et al. 2009) to 192 hours (Halpin 2000). Based on my results, I recommend conducting a pilot study to determine optimal soak times for the system under investigation. Several recent studies have used tether-timers to generate survival curves (e.g. Danilowicz and Sale 1999; Chittaro et al. 2005). In terms of reducing issues associated with prolonged soak times, I suggest such devices would be most valuable when determining which tethers are preyed upon the fastest among the different treatments.

Conclusions

It has been long cited that mangrove-fishes were foraging at night under the cover of darkness, in large part, because of both reduced predation risk and high prey availability. However, this study suggests that risk in mangrove-seagrass habitats is significantly higher at night. This result is consistent with those reported from the reef, where predation rates on tethered juvenile grunts were higher at night (Dailowicz and Sale 1999). I propose that nocturnal foraging migrations of mangrove-associated fishes in seagrass beds are in fact driven primarily by enhanced food abundance at night and that fish foraging during these times incur a cost of enhanced predation risk.

My results suggest that the mangrove-seagrass ecotone is likely an area of high risk to juvenile fishes (10-20 cm TL) migrating from the mangroves to forage in adjacent seagrass. Although this study is the first to investigate such patterns across a mangrove-seagrass distance gradient, my results are consistent with other studies in different nearshore environments (e.g. Shulman1985; Gorman et al. 2009). These results support the notion imparted by Sheaves (2005) that transition zones between refuges and feeding areas are potentially predictable "hot spots" in space and time where animals are most vulnerable to predation.

Distance b/w	Anchor Tethers (m)	le NR	le NR	le ≥2	d rod 2	ner 5	le 10	le NR	lament NR	lament 3-25		le 5	le 5 lament 1.5	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥ 1	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥ 1 ain 3	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥1 ain 3 d peg NR	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥1 ain 3 d peg NR le ≥4	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥1 ain 3 d peg NR le ≥4 R ≥20	le 5 lament 1.5 lament ≥1 ain 3 d peg NR le ≥4 R ≥20 d peg NR	le 5 lament 1.5 lament 1.5 lament 21 and 21 lament 21 3 and 16 NR le 24 R 220 R R 220 R le 24 le 24 R le 24 le 24 le 24 R l	le 5 lament 1.5 lament 1.5 lament 21 and 21 and 3 and 1.6 21 and 1.6 2.4 R 2.20 R R 2.20 R R 2.20 le varied le varied le varied	le 5 lament 1.5 lament 1.5 lament 2.1 ain 3 ain 3 and deg NR >24 le ≥ 24 le ≥ 20 deg NR ≥ 20 deg NR de varied le varied le >10	le 5 lament 1.5 lament 1.5 lament 2.1 ain 3 ain 3 deg 0 NR -24 le -24 le -24 le -24 le -220 MR -16 varied le varied le varied le varied le NR lament NR lament -210	le 5 lament 1.5 lament 1.5 lament 2.1 la 1.5 lament 2.1 1.6 le 2.4 le 2.4 le 2.4 le 2.20 NR le 2.20 NR le varied le varied le varied le varied le NR lament NR lament NR
Line	(cm) Tether A	pole) pole	pole	buried	time	pole	pole	monofila	monofila		pole	pole monofila	pole monofila monofila	pole monofila monofila chair	pole monofila monofila chaii burried	pole monofila monofila chain burried	pole monofila monofila chain buried NR NR	pole monofila monofila chaii buried j NR NR	pole monorfia monorfia chaii burited 1 NR NN Nole burited	pole monofila monofila chair buried buried NR NC Dole pole pole	pole monoffila monoffila chair buried NR NR buried pole pole	pole monoffila monoffila chair buried 1 NR buried 1 pole pole monoffila	pole monoffila monoffila monoffila buried 1 pole pole monoffila monoffila
Tether	Length	25	100	70	20	20	30	50	50	50		30	30 25	30 25 25	30 25 25 75	30 25 10(10(30 25 10 75 NR	30 33 NR NR 00 33 NR	30 25 25 28 28 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29	30 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	30 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	80 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22	8 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	50 50 10 40 3 NR 20 10 10 40 3 NR 20 20 10 40 3 2 2 2 3 20 20 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 2 3 2 3
	Fish Attachment	mono, through posterior ventral musculature	mono, through lower jaw	mono, through lower jaw	mono, through skin anterior of dorsal	mono, through dorsal musculature	mono, through lower jaw	mono, Through lower jaw, mouth-operculum loop	Hook, through caudal peduncle	hook, through caudal peduncle	anima hana ang hana manana di sharana da mada sa ang	mono, unrougn muscle between anal lin and spine	mono, tnrougn muscle between anat tin and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop	mono, turougn muscue between anat tui anu spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop	mono, tarougn musele between anat ini and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop	mono, turougn muscle between attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate	mono, turougn muscle between attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through catadal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature	mono, turougn musce evvecta attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through cated or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through lower jaw	mono, turougn musce between attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through lower jaw NR, to caudal peduncle	mono, turougn musce between attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through lower jaw NR, to caudal peduncle mono, through hole cut in snout	mono, turougn musce between attat inti and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through hower jaw NR, to caudal peduncle mono, through hole cut in snout mono, through hole cut in snout	mono, through muscle between attai tin and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through dorsal musculature hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through hole cut in snout mono, through hole cut in snout	mono, through muscle between attai tin and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through houser jaw NR, to caudal peduncle mono, through hole cut in snout mono, through hole cut in snout	mono, through muscle between attai thit and spine mono, mouth-operculum loop mono, through caudal or abdominal vertebrate hook, through dorsal musculature mono, through holes ri jaw NR, to caudal peduncle mono, through hole cut in shout mono, through hole cut in shout hook, through caudal peduncle hook, through caudal peduncle hook, through caudal peduncle
	Fish Size (cm)	3.2 avg SL	4-6.5 TL	4-5.5 SL	4-5	3-4 TL	3.9-7.3 TL	5-7 TL	4.6-5.8 SL	6.5-10.6 SL	2-5 SL		NR	NR NR	NR NR 3-5 SL	- 70 NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL 3-6 TL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL 3-6 TL <10 FL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL 3-6 TL <10 FL 3.0-3.5 TL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL 3-6 TL <10 FL 3.0-3.5 TL 3-9 SL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 2.96, 2.86 avg TL 3-6 TL <10 FL 3.0-3.5 TL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL	NR NR NR 3-5 SL 3-5 SL 3-6 TL <10 FL 3-0 TL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-14.5 TL	NR NR 3-5 SL 3-5 SL 3-5 SL 3-6 TL 3-6 TL 3-6 TL 3-0 FL 3-0 FL 3-0 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL	NR NR 3-5 SL 3-5 SL 3-5 SL 3-6 avg TL 3-6 TL 3-6 TL 3-0 FL 3-0 FL 3-0 FL 3-0 -10 FL 3-0 -10 FL 3-0 -10 FL 3-0 -10 FL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL 3-9 SL
	Prey Species	Haemulidae spp.	Fundulus Heteroclitus	F. Heteroclitus	F. Heteroclitus	Haemulon flavolineatum	Epinephelus striatus	F. Heteroclitus	Gadus morhua, G. ogac	Gadus spp.	Lagadon rhomboides	0	Cyprinodon variegatus	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp.	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various Acentrogobius spp.	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various Acentrogobius spp. Eucinostomus spp.	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various Acentrogobius spp. Eucinostomus spp. Eucinostomus spp.	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Pseudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various Acentrogobius spp. Eucinostomus spp. H. flavolineatum	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Seudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysargyreum Various Acentrogobius spp. Eucinostomus spp. H. flavolineatum Gadus spp.	Cyprinodon variegatus C. variegatus Steudopleuronectes americanus Stethojulis & Apogon spp. H. chrysærgyreum Various Acentrogobius spp. Eucinostomus spp. H. flavolineatum Gadus spp. Gadus spp.
	Location	St. Croix, USVI	Virginia, USA	Virginia, USA	Chesapeake Bay, USA	Teague Bay, US Virgin Islands	Great Exuma, Bahamas	Rhode Island, USA	Newfoundland, Canada	Newfoundland, Canada	Florida, USA		Florida, USA	Florida, USA Florida, USA	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Peninsula, Japan	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Peninsula, Japan Andros Island, Bahamas	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Turneffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Pennisula, Japan Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Peninsula, Japan Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Curacao, Netherlands Antilles	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Peninsula, Japan Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Curacao, Netherlands Antilles Newfoundland, Canada	Florida, USA Florida, USA New Jersey, USA New Jersey, USA Ryukyu Islands, Japan Tumeffe Atoll, Belize Northern Australia Miura Peninsula, Japan Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Andros Island, Bahamas Curacao, Netherlands Antilles Newfoundland, Canada Newfoundland, Canada
	Source	Shulman, 1985	McIvor & Odum, 1988	Rozas & Odum, 1988	Ruiz et al., 1993	Danilowicz & Sale, 1999	Dahlgren & Eggleston, 2000	Halpin, 2000	Linehan et al., 2001	Laurel et al., 2003	Adams et al., 2004		Ellis & Bell, 2004	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005 Baker & Sheaves, 2007	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005 Baker & Sheaves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2005 Baker & Sheaves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007 Rypel et al., 2007	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2005 Baker & Sheaves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007 Rypel et al., 2007 Rypel et al., 2007	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005 Baker & Sheaves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007 Rypel et al., 2007 Rypel et al., 2007 Dorenbosch et al., 2009	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005 Baker & Sheves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007 Rypel et al., 2007 Rypel et al., 2009 Gorman et al., 2009	Ellis & Bell, 2004 Ellis & Bell, 2004 Manderson et al., 2004 Nakamura & Sano, 2004 Chittaro et al., 2005 Baker & Sheves, 2007 Horinouchi, 2007 Rypel et al., 2007 Rypel et al., 2009 Gorman et al., 2009 Gorman et al., 2009

Table 4.1. Chronological list of 22 studies using fish tethering experiments in nearshore habitats published over the past 24 years

Source	No. Experiments	Soak Time (hr)	Habitat type(s)	Factor(s) compared	Time of Day
Shulman, 1985	64	1	Exposed sand near reef	Proximity to reef	Day
McIvor & Odum, 1988	90	2-3	Tidal marsh (depositional and erosional banks)	Depth; Habitat	Day
Rozas & Odum, 1988	80	2-3	Tidal creeks with SAV	Presence/Absence of SAV	Day
Ruiz et al., 1993	NR	1.5	Shallow non-vegetated subestuary	Depth	Day
Danilowicz & Sale, 1999	330	0.5-3	Reef	Time of Day, Side of Reef	Day; Night; Crepuscular
Dahlgren & Eggleston, 2000	120	8.25-9.25	Tidal Creeks with mangroves, seagrass and coral	Algae cover	Day; Crepuscular
Halpin, 2000	78	120-192	Pond; creek; shallow subtidal; mudflat; channel	Habitat	Day; Night
Linehan et al. 2001	576	0.42	Sand & Gravel, Eelgrass	Depth; Day/Night; Presence/Absence of SAV	Day; Night; Crepuscular
Laurel et al., 2003	1116	0.25	Eelgrass patches, Sand	Patch size, Substrate	Day
Adams et al., 2004	120	1-4	Seagrass	Algae cover	Day
Ellis & Bell, 2004	600	1-5	Sand w/ algae	Depth	Day
Ellis & Bell, 2004	352	1-1.3	Mangrove	Shade; Structure; ShadexStructure	Day
Manderson et al., 2004	239	4	Sand bar close to deep habitat	Depth	Crepuscular
Nakamura & Sano, 2004	128	1	Coral, Seagrass	Habitat, Use of shelter	Day
Chittaro et al., 2005	20	1.5	Mangrove, Seagrass, Reef	Habitat, Time of Day, Sites	Day
Baker & Sheaves, 2007	183	2-3	Shallow sand	Depth; Day/ Night; Moon phase; Tide State	Day; Night
Horinouchi, 2007	160	8-17.5	Seagrass, Sand	Substrate; Day/Night	Day; Night
Rypel et al., 2007	180	0.5	Mangrove	Depth	Day
Rypel et al., 2007	128	0.5	Mangrove tidal creek	Depth; tidal stage	Day
Dorenbosch et al., 2009	203	1.5	Mangrove, Seagrass, Reef	Habitat	Day
Gorman et al., 2009	490	0.25	Eelgrass patches	Patch size	Day
Gorman et al., 2009	1145	0.25	Mud, Eelgrass	Edge effects	Day
Present Study	234	1	Seagrass	Distance from shore; Day vs Night	Day; Night

Table 4.2. Review of experimental designs employed in 22 nearshore fish tethering experiments published over the past 24 years



Figure 4.1. Study sites: (A) Map of Florida depicting location of Biscayne Bay; (B) position of study area (black square) on leeward side of Elliott Key within Biscayne Bay; (C) location of sampling transects within the study area; (D) Birdseye view of experimental set-up along the sampling transect. An experimental trial was composed of a group (open circles) of six tethered pinfish deployed at 10, 50 and 110 m distances from shore. Within each distance, pinfish were spaced 10 m apart. Depths were consistently shallow across the transect, averaging 90 cm \pm 22.3 SD at 10 m from shore to 122 cm \pm 18 SD at 110 m from shore.



Figure 4.2. Predation losses (percent predation) of tethered pinfish in relation to mangrove proximity during the day (A) and night (B). Error bars indicate ± 1 standard error.



Figure 4.3. Trends in relative predation pressure in nearshore habitats (A) during the day versus night, and (B) in relation to distance from ecotone, based on data from published studies. Note that the lines are not intended to indicate continuous trends or to contrast differences in study predation rates, but rather as a means of comparing relative trends among studies. Studies with multiple experiments are indicated. In (A), the "S" and "SG" identifiers in Hironouchi (2007) refer to results from experiments in sand and seagrass respectively. In (B), the "SG" and "M" identifiers in Gorman et al. (2009) refer to results from experiments in seagrass and mud, respectively. Predation values from Baker and Sheaves (2007) were extrapolated from their data; values from Danilowicz and Sale (1999) were averages of ranges provided; values from Gorman et al. (2009) were determined by averaging across study sites.

Chapter 5. The influence of predation risk and food supply on nocturnal fish foraging distributions along a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone

Summary

The combined effects of food availability and predation risk on fish habitat use have received little attention along subtropical shorelines, which serve as nursery habitats for a variety of economically important fishes. In subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA), I investigated the influences of food and predation risk on nocturnal habitat use by gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus), bluestriped grunt (Haemulon sciurus), and seabream (Archosargus rhomboidalis) along a distance gradient, spanning from the mangroveseagrass ecotone to 120 m from shore. Seine and submerged vegetation sampling were used to determine distribution patterns of fishes and their food resources. Tethering experiments were used to explore gradients in predation pressure. I used these data to test *a priori* predictions of fish distributions relative to food and risk that were generated from foraging theory: (1) fishes will be distributed across the distance gradient in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution, IFD); or (2) fishes will avoid high risk areas such that their abundances will be lower than predicted by food resources in high-risk habitats (i.e., food-risk trade-off). Results indicated that none of the fishes were distributed according to IFD. Seabream and gray snapper avoided foraging close to the mangrove edge, where their food was most abundant, but risk was highest. Bluestriped grunt responses to spatial variation in food supply and risk were less clear; they appeared to forage randomly across the distance gradient. My results suggest that fish generally avoid the risky mangrove-seagrass ecotone, but responses to spatial

variation in food and predation risk are species-specific and may be dependent on their specific anti-predator tactics or are influenced by factors I did not measure.

Background

Predators can affect prey distribution and abundance through direct mortality (Krebs and Davies 1984; Morin 1999) and through risk effects (Werner et al. 1983; Brown et al. 1999; Creel and Christianson 2008), such as altering prey behavior and habitat use. While foraging, most animals are susceptible to predation because behaviors that enhance foraging opportunities typically also increase predation risk (e.g., increased activity levels; discussed in Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998). Moreover, habitats that contain the greatest food resources are often the most dangerous (Sih 1980; Brown 1988; Brown and Kotler 2004). Thus, a trade-off often exists between foraging opportunities and the risk of predation (Sih 1980; Lima and Dill 1990; Houston et al. 1993). By sacrificing feeding rate for safety (e.g. shifting to safer but less profitable feeding patches) in response to risk, mesoconsumers can impact the behaviors and abundances of other organisms, which can initiate trophic cascades (Creel and Christianson 2008; Heithaus et al. 2008). Thus, understanding how mesoconsumers respond to food-risk trade-off is important for predicting how they, and their communities, are likely to respond to anthropogenic impacts (Morris 2003; Heithaus et al. 2008). For example, recent work in Prince William Sound, Alaska, suggest that harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) trade-off food for safety from Pacific sleeper sharks (Somniosus pacificus), by primarily foraging on herring (Clupea pallasi) in shallower, safer, waters, instead of mainly foraging in deeper, more profitable, waters on walleye pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*) (Frid et al. 2007). Shark removal by bycatch fisheries are predicted to cause seals to shift to deeper waters, thereby indirectly increasing consumption on walleye pollock and decreasing predation on herring (Frid et al. 2008).

The influence of food availability and predation risk on forager habitat use has received considerable theoretical and empirical attention. The ideal free distribution (IFD; Fretwell and Lucas 1970) is the basis of many habitat selection models and can be used as a null model for assessing factors influencing habitat use during foraging, including predation risk (e.g. van Baalen and Sablelis 1993; Heithaus et al. 2007b; Wirsing et al. 2008). The basic IFD model predicts that foragers will be distributed across habitat patches in proportion to their food supply and, therefore, the densities of foragers relative to their food availability (i.e., the ratio of relative foragers to their food densities) should be equal across habitats (Heithaus et al. 2007b; Wirsing et al. 2007b). If predation risk varies across habitats, however, most foragers will forego foraging opportunities to enhance their safety (see Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998; Brown and Kotler 2004 for reviews). This should lead to relative densities of foragers in safer habitats being greater than they would be in the absence of predation risk (e.g., dolphins, *Tursiops aduncus*, Heithaus and Dill 2002; perch, *Perca fluviatilis*, Bystrom et al. 2003; elk, Cervus elaphus, Ripple and Beschta 2007; harbor seals, Phoca vitlina, Frid et al. 2007). Numerous currencies have been proposed for optimizing the trade-off between predation risk and food availability (see Fraser and Gilliam 1987; Brown 1992; Brown and Kotler, 2004). In many situations, foragers - especially juveniles - may select the habitat that minimizes the ratio of predation risk (μ) to foraging rate (f) (i.e., minimize μ/f (Gilliam and Fraser 1987; similar to pF in Brown 1992). Working in tidal creeks in

the Bahamas, Dahlgren and Eggleston (2000) found that juvenile Nassau Grouper (*Epinephelus striatus*) shifted habitat use in a way that minimized μ/f ; small juvenile grouper foraged in safer algal clumps, although food availability was higher in adjacent riskier habitats. However, because energy intake in habitats is usually density dependent, the quality of a given habitat will decline as more foragers accumulate in it, thereby increasing μ/f . Therefore, foraging animals are unlikely to all select the same habitat and individuals will begin selecting higher-risk habitats when foraging rewards offset the cost of increased predation risk (Brown and Kotler 2004). Furthermore, some individuals will select high-risk, but high-reward, habitats even if the value of μ/f is relatively high. For example, individuals in poor body condition often accept higher risk in order to forage in high quality habitats (McNamara and Houston 1987; Sinclair and Arcese 1995; Lima 1998; Heithaus et al. 2007a) and some age-sex classes that can benefit from increased body condition will take greater risks in order to realize fitness gains (e.g. Cresswell 1994; Brown and Kotler 2004).

The combined effects of food availability and predation risk on fish foraging behavior has been investigated via both laboratory (e.g. Abrahams and Dill 1989; Grand and Dill 1997) and field experiments (Werner et al. 1983), primarily in temperate, freshwater systems and during daylight hours. In contrast, relatively little attention has been directed towards fish foraging decisions in subtropical marine systems, especially at night when many species emerge from refuges to feed. Moreover, most studies investigating habitat use have typically examined foraging behavior in discrete habitat patches, for example, structurally complex "safe" habitats versus open 'risky' habitats (Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998). Few studies have examined the influences of food and risk along a habitat gradient that varies in relative safety and food availability (Thorson et al. 1998; Laundre et al. 2001; Hernandez and Laundre 2005; Van Der Merwe and Brown 2008). In addition, relatively few studies have simultaneously investigated the spatial responses of multiple prey species to the same predators, even though most systems contain a variety of species that may respond differently to the same predators (e.g. Vesakoski et al. 2008; Valeix et al. 2009; Heithaus et al. 2009).

Subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA) provides an opportunity to investigate the combined effects of food availability and predation risk on the nocturnal distributions of multiple fish species across their foraging landscape from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. During daylight hours, a diverse group of juvenile fishes utilize the Bay's mangrove-fringed shorelines as shelter from predators (Serafy et al. 2003; Serafy et al. 2007). However at night, many fishes leave the safety of mangrove prop roots and cross over the mangrove-seagrass ecotone to forage in adjacent seagrass beds (Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000). In the present study, I specifically investigate whether the distance at which three sympatric juvenile fishes - gray snapper (*Lutjanus griseus*), bluestriped grunt (*Haemulon sciurus*) and seabream (*Archosargus rhomboidalis*) – forage from mangrove edge across adjacent seagrass feeding habitat at night matches theoretical expectations based on food-only or food-safety currencies.

Materials and Methods

Study system and species

This study was conducted along the leeward side of Elliott Key, between latitudes N 25.43 and N 25.40 at the eastern boundary of southern Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA).

Sampling activities were focused along three 120 m-long transects that extended perpendicularly from shore (Fig. 5.1). Research was conducted from July-October in 2007 and 2008, corresponding with South Florida's wet season. Water temperature at the site ranges between 32.2-34.9 °C. Across transects, seagrass and macroalgae bottom cover is high (range: 89-97 %) and depths are consistently shallow (range: 55.0-120.0 cm) out to 120 m from shore (Chapter 2, 3). Seine net sampling indicated that the composition and structure of fish communities was very similar among transects (Chapter 2).

I selected juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream because (1) these species are among the most abundant and easily-identified at my site; (2) each is representative of a different trophic guild (seabream - herbivore, bluestriped grunt - crustacean zoobenthivore, gray snapper – generalist zoobenthivore); and (3) two have economic importance in the region's recreational fishery and dive tourism industry (gray snapper and bluestriped grunt).

I focused on late-stage juvenile fish ranging in size from 10-25 cm total length (TL) because this corresponds with the size class of fishes, such as snappers (*Lutjanidae*) and grunts (*Haemulidae*), known to make nocturnal foraging migrations between mangrove refuges and adjacent seagrass feeding habitats (e.g. Rooker and Dennis 1991; Nagelkerken et al. 2000; Chapter 2).

To examine the effects of food availability and predation risk on fish habitat use at my site, I first quantified patterns of fish distribution, food abundance and predation risk along the 120-m distance gradient. I then used these data to test *a priori* predictions of fish distributions relative to food and risk that were generated from foraging theory: (1) fishes will be distributed across the distance gradient in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution); or (2) fishes will avoid high-risk habitats such that fish abundances will be lower than predicted by food resources in high-risk areas (i.e., food-risk trade-offs).

Fish distribution and food supply

Previous studies of late-stage juvenile fishes in my study site during the wet season revealed that gray snapper fed primarily on small fishes (hardhead silversides, *Atherinomorus stipes*; mojarras, *Eucinostomus spp*. and rainwater killifish, *Lucania parva*) and crustaceans (pink shrimp, *Penaeus duorarum*, and caridean shrimp) (Chapter 3). Bluestriped grunts fed almost exclusively on caridean shrimp, while seabream fed almost exclusively on seagrass (mostly *Thalassia testudinum*) and algae (Chapter 3).

I used center-bag seine nets (21.3 m long, 1.8 m high, 3 mm mesh) to assess distribution and abundance of both focal fish species and their potential invertebrate and fish prey along the distance gradient. Sampling occurred every 20 m along the three, 120 m-long transects. Seine nets were hauled parallel to shore, against the current (or wind, if stronger) and pursed such that a standardized area of 142 m² was sampled with each haul. At least two seine samples were collected simultaneously and the sequence at which each distance was sampled was chosen randomly. Sampling was conducted in complete darkness, at least 0.5 hrs after sunset and within 2.5 hrs of low tide. Each transect was visited on different days to enable the collection of three to four seine samples for each transect-distance combination (i.e., 9-12 samples per 20-m distance). Focal fishes and their food items were collected, counted and measured to the nearest mm total length (TL). Because seagrass and algae are the primary food sources of seabream at my site, I

also quantified vegetation cover every 20 m along the three 120-m transects by estimating the percent cover of seagrass and algae within 50 cm x 50 cm quadrats (10 quadrats per distance-transect combination). This sampling method was chosen to be consistent with existing aquatic vegetation monitoring programs in the region (Fourqurean et al. 2001; Browder et al. 2009).

Predation risk

Nocturnal patterns in predator encounter rates at my site were assessed with tethering experiments (Chapter 4). Briefly, late-stage juvenile pinfish (*Lagodon rhomboides*) between 10-20 cm total length were tethered at 10 m, 50 m and 110 m from shore. All tethers were retrieved after 60 minutes, with an absence of the pinfish (or presence of a severed fish or predator on the line) scored as a predation event. To correspond with seine net sampling, all tethering experiments were conducted in darkness from 0.5-2.0 h after sunset and within 2.5 hrs of low tide.

Data analyses

Mean densities of gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream were determined for each transect-distance combination using a delta-distribution mean estimator (Fletcher et al. 2005): a measure of fish density (hereafter just density) that separately considers the proportion of samples positive for a given fish species (i.e., frequency of occurrence) and its mean density when present (i.e., concentration). This approach was previously used to examine mangrove fish density patterns in Biscayne Bay (Faunce and Serafy 2007; Serafy et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008a,b). To reveal overall relative fish densityproximity patterns, I calculated relative fish densities at each distance from shore (*sensu* Heithaus et al. 2009) by dividing the mean fish density at each distance by the sum of mean fish densities across the 120-m distance gradient. Relative fish densities were calculated separately for all transects. Relations between relative fish density and distance were evaluated using regression analysis, applying linear and quadratic models.

Food available to foraging fishes was determined by using all food types frequently consumed by the focal fishes (i.e., prey items occurring in > 5 % of fishes collected; Chapter 3). Mean densities of prey fishes and invertebrates at each transectdistance combination were used to calculate food availability since their size composition did not vary significantly across the distance gradient (Table 5.1B). Food densities per sample were used to calculate mean densities of food resources for each transect-distance combination. To reveal overall relative food supply-proximity patterns, I calculated relative food densities at each distance from shore (sensu Heithaus et al. 2009) in the same manner as for relative fish density (i.e., mean food density per distance divided by the sum of mean food densities across the distance gradient). Because seabream consumed seagrass and macroalage, I also calculated relative vegetation cover in the same manner for each transect, by dividing mean vegetation cover at each distance from shore by the sum of mean vegetation cover across the 120-m distance gradient. Relationships between relative food densities and distance were evaluated via regression analysis, applying linear and quadratic models.

To test theoretical predictions of the links between food availability, predation risk, and forager abundance, I calculated the ratio of relative foragers to their food availability (referred hereafter as "relative foraging densities;" e.g., Heithaus et al. 2007b; Wirsing et al. 2007b) by dividing the relative abundance of foragers by the relative food abundance at each distance from shore. A ratio value of 1.0 across all distances indicates that fish habitat use is proportional to food abundance (an ideal free distribution); values below 1.0 indicate under-matching of resources (i.e., fewer foragers than predicted by food abundance and presumably higher intake rates per forager), while values above 1.0 indicate over-matching food resources (i.e., more foragers than predicted by food abundance and presumably lower intake rates). If foragers were distributed according to an IFD, I would expect all distances from mangroves to have relative forager densities of 1.0, but to deviate from this pattern if other factors (e.g., predation risk) were influencing nocturnal fish distributions. In cases where fish did not match an IFD, I investigated whether predation risk might be responsible for deviations from predictions by comparing tether predation losses at each distance from shore using data presented in Chapter 4. Relationships between predation rates and distance from shore were calculated using logistic regression.

To gain more insight as to whether fishes were distributed such that they were optimizing energy intake and safety, I calculated a proxy for μ/f at each distance from shore and compared these values with observed fish distributions. To calculate my estimates of μ/f , I divided the rate of predation loss in tethering experiments by relative food supply (*sensu* Dahlgren and Eggleston 2000). While this measure does not take into account density-dependent declines in food intake at a particular distance, it provides insight into the relative risks and gains available to fishes at each distance. I predicted that if fish were responsive to predation risk and shifted habitats in a way that minimizes the ratio of mortality risk to foraging rate, relative forager densities would be lowest (i.e., under 1.0) at distances with the highest value of my estimate of μ/f and vice versa. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS (1990) software.

Results

Sixty-two seine samples yielded 295 specimens of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream, ranging in size from 10.0 to 25.0 cm TL for gray snapper and bluestriped grunt and 10.0 to 20.0 cm TL for seabream. Gray snapper and seabream relative density significantly increased with increasing distance from shore (R^2 =0.34, P<0.01, Fig. 5.2A; R^2 =0.57, P<0.0002; Fig. 5.2E, respectively). In contrast, bluestriped grunt showed no significant change in density along the distance gradient (Fig. 5.2C).

Seining also yielded 5,609 potential food items of gray snapper and bluestriped grunt. For bluestriped grunt this included caridean shrimp (their primary prey); while, for gray snapper this included mojarra, rainwater killifish, hardhead silverside, pink shrimp and caridean shrimp (Table 5.1). Relative food density for both gray snapper and bluestriped grunt followed a parabolic distribution pattern along the distance gradient ($R^2=0.47$, P<0.002, Fig. 5.2B; $R^2=0.55$, P<0.0009; Fig. 5.2D, respectively; Table 5.1A) with lowest values at intermediate distances. A total of 178 quadrats provided estimates of vegetation cover (seabream food) along the distance gradient. Seabream food supply significantly decreased with increasing distance from shore ($R^2=0.48$, P<0.002, Fig. 5.2F; Table 5.1A). Similarly, vegetation height also decreased with distance from shore (Table 5.1B).

Logistic regression based on data from 108 tethering experiments revealed that predation loss significantly decreased with increasing distance from shore (P<0.005; Fig. 5.3) from 70 % nearest the mangroves (10 m) to 35 % at the furthest distances from shore (110 m).

Gray snapper habitat use relative to their food supply (i.e., Relative foraging densities) followed a parabolic distribution pattern ($R^2=0.5$, P<0.003, Fig. 5.4A), undermatching food supply near shore (0-40 m), over-matching food abundance at distances of 40-80 m from shore and matching food abundance at distances furthest from shore (80-120 m). Bluestriped grunt habitat use relative to their food abundance also followed a parabolic distribution pattern ($R^2=0.43$, P<0.005, Fig. 5.4C), approximately matching food abundance near shore (0-40 m), over-matching their food abundance between 40-80 m from shore, and slightly under-matching food supply furthest from shore (80-120 m). Seabream abundance relative to their food supply significantly increased with increasing distance from shore ($R^2=0.66$, P<0.001, Fig. 5.4E), under-matching their food supply near shore (0-40 m), and over-matching food supply at further distances (60-120 m).

For gray snapper and seabream, μ/f significantly decreased with increasing distance from shore (R²=0.24, P<0.03, Fig. 5.4B; R²=0.9, P<0.0001, Fig. 5.4F, respectively). For bluestriped grunt, μ/f followed a parabolic pattern with distance (R²=0.45, P<0.02, Fig. 5.4D), with lowest values furthest from shore (80-120 m).

Discussion

A variety of factors influence animal distributions including food availability, predation risk and competition. All else being equal, foraging theory predicts that the distribution of foragers will match that of their food supply in the absence of predation risk; however, if risk varies across habitats, foragers will trade off food for safety from predators (Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998; Brown and Kotler 2004). Here, I investigated whether the nocturnal habitat use decisions of three sympatric juvenile fishes - gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream - matched this theoretical expectation across a 120-m continuous distance gradient, extending from the mangroves (refuge) across adjacent seagrass (feeding) habitat, in subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida.

If focal fishes were distributed across the distance gradient in proportion to their food (i.e., an ideal free distribution), relative forager densities, (i.e., the ratio of relative foragers to their food availability) at all distances from mangroves should have approximated 1.0. Instead, I found that distributions of all the focal fishes along the distance gradient were not proportional to that of their food. In fact, relative foraging densities of both seabream and gray snapper were lowest nearest the mangroves. It is worth considering that my measure of relative forager densities overestimates the abundance of fishes foraging nearshore since I would have captured both foragers and individuals departing to, and returning from, foraging further offshore. Thus, in a true IFD, I would expect relative forager densities to be slightly above 1.0 nearshore. Thus, all three species I sampled appear to concentrate their foraging at distances that do not maximize energy intake rates.

Seabream distributions were consistent with my μ/f predictions. They undermatched food resources nearshore and exhibited the highest densities in the safest habitats furthest from the mangroves. This pattern suggests that seabream travel far from shore in order to forage at a reduced risk of predation. Gray snapper avoided foraging in high-risk, but productive areas near mangroves. Consistent with my theoretical predictions, relative forager densities were lowest nearshore where μ/f was highest. However, further from shore, relative foraging densities did not show a strong match to my predictions (i.e., relative forager densities were not consistently highest where μ/f values were lowest). The deviation from my predictions furthest from shore may be because my μ/f values do not take into account density-dependent declines in food intake, which are likely in my system. Offshore food resources may begin to become depleted or interference competition likely increases (Sutherland et al. 1988; Sutherland and Parker 1999), as more gray snapper forage there.

In contrast to gray snapper and seabream, bluestriped grunt did not appear to avoid foraging nearest the mangroves – although relative abundances were below that predicted by food abundance. Moreover, bluestriped grunt deviations from IFD along the distance gradient where not consistent with my μ/f predictions. Farthest from shore (where risk was lowest), bluestriped grunt slightly under-matched their food supply. The reasons for this pattern are unclear. Perhaps schooling by grunts (Hobson 1965) or other anti-predator tactics or adaptations (e.g., crypsis, vigilance) allow them to compensate for higher predator encounter rates nearshore.

Deviations from my predictions may arise because the measure of μ/f used does not quantify actual predation pressure for each species. Here, I used predation on tethered pinfish to assess predation pressure for all three focal species, which may be a source of error since spatial variability in predation pressure on pinfish may differ from that of other species. However, I believe removal rates on pinfish in this study likely reflect actual encounter rates with predators for all three focal species since pinfish, seabream, gray snapper and bluestriped grunt occupy the same habitat, have similar body forms and are characterized by similar length-frequency distributions within the study site. Moreover, all three species appear to at-least slightly under-match their food resources nearest the mangroves, where both tether removal rates and gillnet catch rates of
predators are highest (Chapter 4). Divergence from my predictions may also arise since my measure of μ/f also does not quantify foraging rates for each species at a particular distance and instead uses food abundance as a proxy. It is possible that foraging rates of seabream (a herbivore) are correlated with its sessile and abundant food supply (vegetation), while those of gray snapper or bluestriped grunts at any particular distance are not correlated with abundances of their highly motile prey due to a variety of possible factors, including prey anti-predatory behaviors, interference competition, or differential prey selectivity by the fishes for particular food types.

Crossing ecotones between refuges and feeding patches should be risky for mesoconsumers because the concentration of individuals in refuges and predictability of their movements attract predators. For example, off the coast of South Africa, hunting white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) patrol fur seal (*Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus*) refuge entry and exit points in attempts to ambush seals as they leave for and return from foraging (Martin et al. 2005; Hammerschlag et al. 2006; Martin et al. 2009). My results suggest that the mangrove-seagrass interface and its surroundings may similarly act as a gauntlet to fishes migrating to forage. Indeed, nearshore predators appear to focus search efforts near the mangrove shoreline (e.g. lemon sharks, *Negaprion brevirostris*; Morrissey and Gruber 1993; Franks 2007). Although the probability of fish escaping back into the mangroves during an encounter with a predator is relatively high at the mangrove fringe, at my closest sampling distance (10 m), this probability of escape may have declined such that it is similar to that across the rest of my distance gradient. Of course, escape to mangroves is dependent on fish being able to detect predators patrolling the mangroves, which may be hindered at night, when predators often have a visual

advantage (Munz and McFarland 1973). Thus, I suggest that as fish begin to migrate away from shore to feed in adjacent seagrass beds, they are likely at high risk from predators patrolling the mangrove fringe with decreasing risk at further distances. Indeed, acoustic tracking of gray snapper (Luo et al. 2009) has revealed that at sunset, gray snapper migrate rapidly out of the mangroves in a synchronized fashion and do not forage in seagrass nearest the mangroves. For both gray snapper and seabream, selecting offshore foraging locations represents a substantial energetic opportunity cost since their food supply is greatest nearest the mangroves.

The present study is the first to explicitly investigate the influences of food availability and predation risk on nocturnal fish habitat use patterns along a continuous mangrove-seagrass distance gradient. My results indicate that while some species (e.g., seabream) appear to trade-off food for safety and forage away from the mangroveseagrass ecotone where food abundance is highest, the responses of other species are less clear. For example, late-juvenile bluestriped grunt (a crustacean zoobenthivore) did not match theoretical expectations, foraging randomly across the distance gradient despite habitat spatial variation in food supply and predation risk.

Individual forager responses to variation in predation risk and food availability are not necessarily straightforward. Species may manage risk at a variety of spatial scales and behavioral tactics by employing a variety of complementary behaviors such as allocation of time spent foraging in different habitat patches as well as the use of apprehension or vigilance (Brown 1999; Brown and Kotler 2004). For example, in Shark Bay, Australia, foraging dugongs (*Dugon dugon*) shift habitat use at multiple scales (Wirsing et al. 2007 b, c) and change foraging tactics (Wirsing et al. 2007 a) in order to balance the conflicting demands of food acquisition and gaining relative safety from predators. At broad spatial scales, fewer dugongs forage in dangerous shallow habitats when shark predators are most abundant. However, those that do forage in shallow waters during dangerous time periods shift to feed in safer edge microhabitats and generally avoid the risky interior portions of seagrass banks. In addition, when risk is highest, dugongs employ a foraging tactic ("cropping"), which affords higher vigilance even though an alternate tactic ("excavation") provides higher energy intake rates, but renders dugongs more susceptible to predation. In my study, I only examined spatial responses to predation risk. However, fishes may be using other types of avoidance behaviors like schooling, cryptic coloration and vigilance to optimize energy gain and safety from predators. Future studies should investigate a diversity of predator avoidance tactics simultaneously to further elucidate the role of predation risk in shaping distribution patterns of fishes along the seagrass-mangrove ecotone.

Table 5.1. (A) Mean abundance and (B) length of different fish food items across the distance gradient. In (A), vegetation values are
mean percent cover, in (B), vegetation values are mean canopy height. TL = total length in cm. Shrimp length measurements are
post-orbital length. All caridean shrimp measured were between 0.2-0.5 cm. At our study site, gray snapper feed on hardhead
silversides, rainwater killifish, pink shrimp, and caridean shrimp. Bluestriped grunts feed almost exclusively on caridean shrimp,
while seabream feed almost exclusively on seagrass (mostly <i>Thalassia testudium</i>) and algae (Chapter 3). All values are means ± 1
standard error.

a)
చ
Ē
g
S
ž
2
_
<u>≥</u>
Ē
ĩ
G
$\overline{}$
<u>م</u>
~ .

I

	Hardhead silversides	Moiarras	Rainwater killifish	Pink shrimp	Caridean shrimp	Vegetation Cover
Distance (m)	Mean No.	Mean No.	Mean No.	Mean No.	Mean No.	Mean Cover (%)
10	93.5 ± 17.8	32.4 ± 9.6	30.3 ± 15.2	17.9 ± 6.9	173.7 ± 57.5	96.1 ± 1.3
30	116.4 ± 25.4	53.7 ± 13.7	11.64 ± 3.8	16.9 ± 3.5	112.9 ± 51.5	94.4 ± 1.7
50	83.5 ± 21.5	39.9 ± 9.3	13.5 ± 9.2	14.3 ± 4.7	69.8 ± 22.5	89.5 ± 3.1
70	67.3 ± 12.6	28.0 ± 4.8	11.5 ± 4.1	17.3 ± 4.8	83.6 ± 31.0	91.5 ± 1.8
06	80.4 ± 15.7	32.8 ± 7.5	12.4 ± 6.2	18.17 ± 9.0	143.2 ± 46.0	83.3 ± 3.9
110	94.4 ± 14.9	56.5 ± 21.7	20.2 ± 7.4	18.2 ± 4.3	278.3 ± 98.8	83.2 ± 2.8
(B) Length (cm)	vs. Distance					
	Hardhead silversides	Mojarras	Rainwater killifish	Pink shrimp	Caridean shrimp	Vegetation Height
Distance (m)	Mean TL	Mean TL	Mean TL	Mean TL	Mean TL	Mean TL
10	4.6 ± 0.9	4.7 ± 1.7	2.1 ± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.6	< 0.6	32.5 ± 1.7
30	4.5 ± 0.9	4.8 ± 1.7	2.1 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.5	< 0.6	36.2 ± 2.3
50	4.4 ± 0.9	4.9 ± 1.7	2.1 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.5	< 0.6	27.4 ± 1.0
70	4.4 ± 0.9	4.5 ± 1.5	2.1 ± 0.3	1.7 ± 0.6	< 0.6	27.7 ± 1.6
90	4.2 ± 0.9	4.5 ± 1.7	2.1 ± 0.3	1.6 ± 0.6	< 0.6	25.0 ± 1.3
110	4.4 ± 0.9	4.3 ± 1.8	2.1 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.6	< 0.6	24.8 ± 1.3



Figure 5.1. Study sites: (A) Map of Florida depicting location of Biscayne Bay; (B) position of study area (black square) on leeward side of Elliott Key within Biscayne Bay; (C) location of sampling transects within the study area; and (D) 120 m distance gradient with 20 m sampling intervals demarcated. The midpoints of the sampling intervals correspond with positions of beach seine bags.



Figure 5.2. Relative density-distance patterns of juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream (A, C, E) and their food supply (B, D, F). Values are transect-specific relative densities (\pm 1 standard error). Symbol shapes correspond with different transects. Solid lines and associated R² values indicate significant distance patterns (P < 0.05).



Figure 5.3. Significant fit of logistic regression relating predation losses of tethered pinfish against distance from shore. Dashed lines indicated upper and lower 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 5.4. Examining the effects of food availability and predation risk on habitat use by gray snapper (A-B), bluestriped grunt (C-D) and seabream (E-F). Fish relative foraging densities along the 120-m distance gradient (A, C, E). A ratio value of 1.0 at all distances (dashed lines) indicates that fish habitat use is proportional to food abundance (an ideal free distribution). Values of predation risk (μ) divided by food supply (f) along the 120-m distance gradient (B, D, F). Solid lines and associated R² values indicate significant distance patterns (P < 0.05). Error bars represent 1 standard error.

Chapter 6. Overview, Conclusions and Future Research

Study overview

Animal distributions and densities are influenced by a variety of factors including physicochemical variability, food availability, predation risk and competition. All else being equal, foraging theory predicts that consumers will match their food supply under conditions of low predation risk; however, if risk varies across habitats, foragers will trade off food for safety from predators (Lima and Dill 1990; Lima 1998; Brown and Kotler 2004). Recent evidence suggest that the effects of predation risk on foraging behavior are context dependent (Schmitz 2007) and can be influenced by landscape features (e.g. distance from edge habitat) (Heithaus et al. 2009). However, studies examining risk-effects on fish habitat use have received little attention along subtropical shorelines, which serve as nursery habitats for a variety of economically important fishes. Sampling and observation of fishes in subtropical Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA) provide opportunities to investigate the response of multiple fish species to risk effects across their foraging landscape, spanning from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone into adjacent seagrass beds. To that end, this dissertation comprised an integrated set of quantitative studies which collectively tested *a priori* predictions (based on foraging theory) as to whether: (1) fishes were distributed across their foraging landscape in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution theory (IFD), Fretwell and Lucas, 1970); or (2) fishes avoided high-risk habitats such that relative abundances were lowest in habitats with relatively high-risk and vice versa (i.e., food risk tradeoffs, Gilliam and Fraser 1987). My results supported the notion of Heithaus et al. (2009) that landscape features can influence predator-prey interactions; specifically, I found that the mangrove-seagrass

ecotone appeared to serve as a hunting corridor for predators that are presumably targeting the diel juvenile fish migration from mangroves to seagrass beds, and back again. Consequently, none of the focal fishes examined (gray snapper, *Lutjanus griseus*, bluestriped grunt, *Haemulon sciurus*, and seabream, *Archosargus rhomboidalis*) were distributed according to IFD. Seabream and gray snapper appeared to trade-off food for safety by avoiding foraging close to the mangrove-edge, where their food was most abundant, but risk was highest. In contrast, bluestriped grunt appeared to spatially forage randomly across the distance gradient. An overview of each chapter's objectives and major results is presented below:

Chapter 2: Nocturnal fish utilization of a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone: stagespecific patterns of abundance in four species

• While diel fish migration between mangrove and seagrass habitats has been recognized since at least the 1960's, quantitative studies have focused mainly on *diurnal* patterns of fish distribution and abundance. The objective of this chapter was test the hypothesis that *nocturnal* fish abundances would decrease with increasing distance from shoreline. In general, previous work has revealed that fish abundances decline with increasing distance from mangroves; however, evidence for such a pattern at night, when most fishes are feeding, is scarce. To date, only three studies have reported nocturnal fish density patterns in seagrass beds at various distances from mangrove shoreline and their sampling design was not conducive for revealing the nature of nocturnal abundance-proximity relationships (e.g., linear or parabolic), if they existed.

- I conducted nocturnal fish sampling over two consecutive wet and dry seasons along a mangrove-lined shoreline in Biscayne Bay. The goal was to examine nocturnal habitat use patterns of early- and late-stage juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda (*Sphyraena barracuda*). I used seine nets to sample at 20 m intervals along a 120 m- distance gradient extending from the mangrove edge across adjacent seagrass habitat.
- Results indicated that assemblage composition and structure differed significantly by season, likely influenced by temperature. However, within each season, the fish habitat use pattern at both the assemblage and species-specific level generally failed to support my working hypothesis of abundance decline with increasing distance from the ecotone. Data indicated that the nocturnal fish assemblage differed according to distance from shore, with the zone closest to the mangrove edge being the most distinct. Species-specific analyses revealed mostly uniform patterns of abundance with distance from shore for early juveniles. Except for the piscivorous great barracuda, the zone nearest the mangrove edge tended to harbor the lowest fish densities for late juveniles of all examined species.

Chapter 3: Seasonal diet and feeding habits of juvenile fishes foraging along a subtropical marine ecotone

• The objective of this study was to examine seasonal diet and feeding variation in late juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt, seabream and great barracuda. The same seine collections were used to acquire the four focal fishes, their digestive tracts and to examine the relative abundance of their prey items. I specifically

investigated for seasonal differences in feeding intensity, diet composition and trophic niche breadth.

I found significantly lower feeding intensity during the dry season compared to the wet. Gray snapper fed on a variety of small fishes and crustaceans, while bluestriped grunt fed primarily on caridean shrimp. Seabream fed almost exclusively on vegetation and great barracuda was almost entirely piscivorous. Seasonal shifts in major food resource use generally did not correspond with changes in relative abundance of food supply. Seasonal trophic niche breadth differences were evident for gray snapper, great barracuda and bluestriped grunt, while niche breadth was equivalent between seasons for seabream. Based on seasonal food supply in the environment, niche breadth values did not match foraging theory predictions, which state niche breadth should expand as preferred food resources become scarce. Finally, based on the dietary information obtained in this effort, simplified, season-specific trophic web diagrams were generated.

Chapter 4: Relative predation risk for juvenile fishes along a subtropical mangroveseagrass ecotone

• The objective of this study was to investigate diel patterns of predation pressure in seagrass beds as they relate to proximity to the mangrove-seagrass ecotone. I conducted a series of tethering studies to specifically test the hypotheses that predation pressure: (1) increases with increasing distance from shore; and (2) is lower at night than during the day.

• I found no support for the above hypotheses. Results indicated that predation rates were highest nearest the mangrove edge and decreased with increasing distance from shore. Additionally, fish mortality due to predation at night was nearly twice as high compared to the day. My results are consistent with previous studies in marine environments which have shown that ecotones are areas of high predation risk to fishes. In contrast, there is less conformity among studies that predation in nearshore habitats is higher at night than by day.

Chapter 5: The influence of food supply and predation risk on nocturnal fish distributions along a subtropical mangrove-seagrass ecotone

- The objective of this integrative chapter was to examine the combined effects of food supply and predation risk on nocturnal fish distribution patterns along their foraging landscape, spanning from the mangrove-seagrass ecotone to 120 m from shore. Data from chapters 2, 3 and 4 were used to specifically test hypotheses based on classical foraging models for late juveniles. These were: (1) fishes (late juveniles of seabream, gray snapper and bluestriped grunt) will be distributed across the distance gradient in proportion to their food supply (i.e., ideal free distribution, IFD, Fetwell and Lucas 1970); or (2) fishes will avoid high-risk habitats such that relative abundances are lowest in habitats with relatively high-risk and *vice versa* (Gilliam and Fraser 1987).
- Results indicated that late juvenile gray snapper, bluestriped grunt and seabream were not distributed along the distance gradient in proportion to the food supply (i.e., not an IFD). Seabream and gray snapper avoided foraging nearest the mangrove-edge, presumably exchanging food for safety; but, offshore, gray

snapper abundance relative to their food supply was not highest where risk was lowest. In contrast, bluestriped grunt did not match theoretical expectations and appeared to forage randomly across the distance gradient despite variation in both food supply and risk.

Conclusions

The present study is the first to investigate the influences of food availability and predation risk on nocturnal fish habitat use patterns along a continuous mangroveseagrass distance gradient. Based on the results presented above, the broad conclusions of this study are:

- Season is an important factor influencing fish distribution patterns as well as feeding habits. Sampling, dietary analysis and trophic modeling needs to be seasonally resolved in this subtropical environment.
- 2) Nocturnal sampling revealed distribution patterns that were unexpected and unlike those found during the day. I suspect fewer patterns of fish decline with distance from the mangrove edge will emerge as more nocturnal, as opposed to diurnal, fish density data are collected. Reliance on strictly diurnal observations, especially with respect to shoreline fish feeding dynamics, may be misleading.
- Upon analysis, significant species- and stage-specific variation in nocturnal fish distributions emerged. Even within the study area examined, generalizing abundance patterns for one species or life-stage to another would be erroneous.

- 4) Contrary to the findings of most diurnal studies, I found that the zone nearest the mangrove-seagrass ecotone was an area of relatively high risk to juvenile fishes. This suggests that the ecotone represents a hunting corridor for nearshore fish predators, especially at night.
- 5) Fish distributions patterns did not match their food supply (i.e., not an Ideal Free Distribution); while some species appeared to trade-off food for safety, not all focal fishes exhibited consistent matches to classic food-risk trade-off model predictions, despite spatial gradients in predation pressure and food supply.

Opportunities for study expansion and future research

Beyond the several questions that were specifically addressed in this dissertation, many more emerged over the course of this work. Below I present several additional questions that remain unresolved and that represent opportunities for study expansion as well as uncharted research territory for the future.

Field sampling expansion:

Given available resources, I would recommend that future studies examine fish density patterns beyond the 120 m rage investigated in this study. Recent acoustic tracking of gray snapper in Biscayne Bay has demonstrated that these fishes forage as much as 500 m from shore (Luo et al. 2009). Moreover, work from nearby areas has shown that juvenile lemon sharks (*Negaprion brevirostris*), an important predator of the focal fishes at my site, move as far as 1 km m offshore (Franks 2007). Thus, I would plan to sample to at least 500 m from shore. This would require a gear type that would not be limited by depth, such as a boat-deployable purse seine. In conjunction, I would suggest

that future research continue to employ tethering experiments to measure gradients in predation pressure, since this is an easy and inexpensive means of assessing relative predation pressure by measuring predator encounter rates (McIvor and Odum 1988; Aaronson and Heck 1995; Baker and Sheaves 2007). I would also recommend expanded sampling along the eastern margin of Biscayne Bay as well as include the western shoreline. The western margin of Biscayne Bay is interspersed with creeks and freshwater canals making the nearshore salinity regime variable compared to the eastern margin of the Bay (Serafy et al. 1997, 2003). Thus, it is possible that fish and predator distance-distributions along the mainland shoreline may be influenced by salinity. Including sampling along the mainland would also complement existing fish (Serafy et al. 2007; Faunce and Serafy 2008b), invertebrate (Browder et al. 2009) and aquatic vegetation (Lirman et al. 2008) monitoring programs currently underway.

Throughout the present study, all sampling took place relatively early in the night, within a 2 hr period. Thus, it is possible that fish and predator distributions during this period may not be the same as much later in the night or just before dawn the next morning. Likewise, sampling over the course of the day may also reveal fine-scale temporal patterns of distribution that differ from those found here. Thus, in the future, I would recommend sampling throughout the day and night to investigate if and how fish distributions may change over the course of 24 hours. Such an effort would be highly resource intensive, but would likely begin to better reflect the feeding strategies and tactics of shoreline dwelling fishes. Similarly, in this study, I examined how predation risk in only one season (wet) influenced the spatial foraging behavior of three late-juvenile fish species (gray snapper, seabream, bluestriped grunt). Comparable future

studies are also needed over the course of the year to examine if and how seasonal variation in predation risk influences fish foraging. Future studies might also consider examining more fish species and life-stages than examined in this research, although such expansion would need to be accompanied by substantially greater sampling and laboratory resources than were available here.

Other research avenues:

Predation risk is a product of two components: the probability that a prey organism encounters a predator and the probability of its death as a result of that encounter (Lima and Dill 1990; Hugie and Dill 1994). Probability of death given an encounter can be influenced by habitat characteristics (e.g., amount of physical structure), escape ability and their interaction (Hugie and Dill 1994). However, most studies just examine predator encounter rates in their overall assessment of predation pressure and do not consider landscape features and their interaction with prev escape abilities (Heithaus et al. 2009). In this study I found that predator encounter rates at my closest sampling distance to the mangroves (10 m) were the highest; but, it is possible that at the mangrove fringe, the probability of fish escape back into the prop-roots given an encounter with a predator may possibly be higher compared to just several meters away. Thus, overall risk to fishes may be quite low at the fringe despite high predator encounter rates near the mangroves. Future field and laboratory work is needed to evaluate fish detection and escape probability given encounters with predators at my site in order to fully quantify predation risk to juvenile fishes. This could be accomplished by setting up a mesocosm experiments in the laboratory where I could simulate the mangroves and seagrass beds and then construct simple communities (e.g. predator + fish consumer + food resource)

and manipulate predator densities and compare fish escape responses at various distances from the mangrove fringe. With proper planning, this might be accomplished in the field, where an area is fenced off and numbers of predators, fishes and food resources are manipulated. However, use of a mesocosm may be more practical. In either case, an underwater video surveillance system with LED cameras (e.g., Luo et al. 2009) could be set up at various intervals from real or simulated prop-roots to monitor possible escape behaviors (i.e., darting into the prop roots or seagrass blades) at the mangrove edge compared different distances from shore. This could be done in conjunction with an automated fish detection system using stationary passive integrated transponder (PIT) technology (Zydlewski et al. 2001) such that a "gateway" of PIT sensors could quantify fine-scale habitat use and movements of PIT-tagged fishes and possibly their predators (Adams et al. 2006b). Such a combination of underwater video surveillance and PIT technology have been previously used to assess fish movements, including a lutjanid snapper, relative to mangroves in an estuarine salt marsh creek (Meynecke et al. 2008).

In the present study, I only examined *spatial* responses by the focal fishes to predation risk. However, fishes may be using other types of avoidance behaviors like schooling, cryptic coloration and vigilance to optimize energy gain and safety from predators (Brown and Kotler 2004). Future studies could investigate a diversity of predator avoidance tactics simultaneously to further elucidate the role of predation risk in shaping distribution patterns of fishes along the seagrass-mangrove ecotone. One method for doing so could involve tethering fish along the 120 m distance gradient as in this study; however, in addition, an observer and/or video array could visually monitor fish behaviors before, during, and after an encounter with a predator. Rypel et al. (2007) used a similar method to visually monitor predators approaching and attacking tethered mojarra (*Eucinostomus* spp.) in a Bahamian tidal creek. In addition, some recent technologies are available that could be used for examining fish anti-predatory behavior. For example, animal-borne video devices (known as "crittercams") are available that can provide continuous video recordings from the predator's viewpoint (Heithaus et al. 2001; Marshall et al. 2007). Until the systems are further miniaturized, "crittercams" for the sizes of fish that were the emphasis of my dissertation seem unlikely in the near future. However, if "crittercams" were attached to a predator species at my site (e.g. lemon shark), in an appropriate mesocosm, anti-predatory behaviors of fishes encountered by the predator could be examined in fine detail. For example, when a predator encounters a potential fish prey, one could potentially capture a range of anti-predator responses from charging the predator, changing color patterns, or retreating to the mangroves etc.

In summary, back-reef habitats such as mangroves and seagrass beds are nursery areas for a variety of fishes and invertebrates. There is a growing demand for predictive models in these nursery habitats for development of effective management strategies that maximize ecosystem production and diversity (e.g. Beck et al. 2001; Adams et al. 2006a; Dahlgreen et al. 2006). However, these models have largely overlooked the role of predation risk in structuring marine communities due to a lack of understanding of species interactions. The present study is the first to investigate the influences of food availability and predation risk on nocturnal fish habitat use patterns along a continuous mangrove-seagrass distance gradient. Results indicated that fish generally avoided the risky mangrove-seagrass ecotone, but responses to spatial variation in food and predation risk were species-specific and may be dependent on their specific anti-predator tactics or influenced by factors I did not measure. These results provide new insights that may be helpful for predicting how both predators and prey are likely to respond to anthropogenic ecosystem changes and for developing effective conservation and management strategies. **Appendix A.** Results of diurnal seine sampling in Biscayne Bay, Florida (USA). Density-distance patterns of late-stage seabream, *Archosargus rhomboidalis* (A), great barracuda, *Sphyraena barracuda* (B) and gray snapper, *Lutjanus griseus* (C). Sampling revealed density declines with distance. See Chapter 2 for further details on sampling and analysis.



Appendix B. Percent composition by volume of different taxa in the diets of the four focal fishes from Biscayne Bay, Florida.



Literature Cited

- Abrahams MV, Dill LM (1989) A determination of the energetic equivalence of the risk of predation. Ecology 70:999-1007
- Abrahams MV, Sutterlin A (1999) The foraging and antipredator behaviour of growthenhanced transgenic Atlantic salmon. Anim Behav 58:933-942
- Adams AJ, Dahlgren CP, Kellison GT, Kendall MS, Layman CA, Ley JA, Nagelkerken I, Serafy JE (2006a) Nursery function of tropical back-reef systems. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 318:287-301
- Adams AJ, Locascio JV, Robbins BD (2004) Microhabitat use by a post-settlement stage estuarine fish: evidence from relative abundance and predation among habitats. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 299:17-33
- Adams AJ, Wolfe RK, Pine WE, Thornton BL (2006b) Efficacy of PIT tags and an autonomous antenna system to study the juvenile life stage of an estuarinedependent fish. Estuar Coast 29:311-317
- Alofs KM, Polivka KM (2004) Microhabitat-scale influences of resources and refuge on habitat selection by an estuarine opportunist fish. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 271:297-306
- Aronson RB, Heck KL (1995) Tethering experiments and hypothesis-testing in ecology. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 121:307-309
- Baker R, Sheaves M (2006) Visual surveys reveal high densities of large piscivores in shallow estuarine nurseries. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 323:75-82
- Baker R, Sheaves M (2007) Shallow-water refuge paradigm: conflicting evidence from tethering experiments in a tropical estuary. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 349:13-22
- Beck MW, Heck KL, Able KW, Childers DL, Eggleston DB, Gillanders BM, Halpern B, Hays CG, Hoshino K, Minello TJ, Orth RJ, Sheridan PF, Weinstein MR (2001) The identification, conservation, and management of estuarine and marine nurseries for fish and invertebrates. Biosci 51:633-641
- Bethea DM, Hale L, Carlson JK, Cortes E, Manire CA, Gelsleichter J (2007) Geographic and ontogenetic variation in the diet and daily ration of the bonnethead shark, Sphyrna tiburo, from the eastern Gulf of Mexico. Mar Biol 152:1009-1020
- Billings VC, Munro JL (1974) The biology, ecology, exploitation and management of Caribbean reef fishes, Port Royal Marine Laboratory, Jamaica

- Biro PA, Abrahams MV, Post JR, Parkinson EA (2004) Predators select against high growth rates and risk-taking behaviour in domestic trout populations. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B-Biol Sci 271:2233-2237
- Biro PA, Post JR, Abrahams MV (2005) Ontogeny of energy allocation reveals selective pressure promoting risk-taking behaviour in young fish cohorts. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B-Biol Sci 272:1443-1448
- Biro PA, Post JR, Parkinson EA (2003a) From individuals to populations: Prey fish risktaking mediates mortality in whole-system experiments. Ecology 84:2419-2431
- Biro PA, Post JR, Parkinson EA (2003b) Population consequences of a predator-induced habitat shift by trout in whole-lake experiments. Ecology 84:691-700
- Blaber SJM (2007) Mangroves and fishes: Issues of diversity, dependence, and dogma. Bull Mar Sci 80:457-472
- Blaber SJM, Blaber TG (1980) Factors affecting the distribution of juvenile estuarine and inshore fish. J Fish Biol 17:143-162
- Borcherding J (2006) Prey or predator: 0+perch (Perca fluviatilis) in the trade-off between food and shelter. Environ Biol Fishes 77:87-96
- Bowen S (1996) Quantitative description of the diet. In: BR M, DW W (eds) Fisheries Techniques 2nd Edition. American Fisheries Society, p 513-532
- Browder JA, Liehr GA, Johnson D, Buck E, Jackson TJ (2009) Epifaunal communities of mainland nearshore South Biscayne Bay. Annual report to the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers and the RECOVER Group of the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Program, SE MAP Project 3.2.3.5 & 3.2.4.7., USACE WO 9. pp 167.
- Brown GE, Cowan J (2000) Foraging trade-offs and predator inspection in an Ostariophysan fish: Switching from chemical to visual cues. Behaviour 137:181-195
- Brown JS (1988) Patch use as an indicator of habitat preference, predation risk, and competition. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 22:37-47
- Brown JS (1992) Patch use under predation risk. 1. Models and predictions. Annales Zoologici Fennici 29:301-309
- Brown JS (1999) Vigilance, patch use and habitat selection: Foraging under predation risk. Evol Ecol Res 1:49-71
- Brown JS, Kotler BP (2004) Hazardous duty pay and the foraging cost of predation. Ecol Lett 7:999-1014

- Burke NC (1995) Nocturnal foraging habitats of french and bluestriped grunts, Haemulon flavolineatum and H. sciurus, at Tabacco Caye, Belize. Environ Biol Fishes 42:365-374
- Bystrom P, Persson L, Wahlstrom E, Westman E (2003) Size- and density-dependent habitat use in predators: consequences for habitat shifts in young fish. J Anim Ecol 72:156-168
- Chiba S, Arnott SA, Conover DO (2007) Coevolution of foraging behavior with intrinsic growth rate: risk-taking in naturally and artificially selected growth genotypes of Menidia menidia. Oecologia 154:237-246
- Chittaro PM, Usseglio P, Sale P (2005) Variation in fish density, assemblage composition and relative rates of predation among mangrove, seagrass and coral reef habitats. Environ Biol Fishes 72:175-187
- Christensen V, Pauly D (1992) ECOPATH-II A software for balancing steady-state ecosystem models and calculating network characteristics. Ecol Model 61:169-185
- Christian J (2003) Evaluating the energetic value and structural contributions of mangroves and seagrasses to local fish populations: the importance of habitat connectivity. Masters, University of Alabama
- Clarke K, Warwick R (1994) change in marine communities: an approach to statistical analysis and interpretation, Vol. Hitchings and Mason Ltd., Plymouth, United Kingdom
- Cortes E (1997) A critical review of methods of studying fish feeding based on analysis of stomach contents: Application to elasmobranch fishes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 54:726-738
- Creel S, Christianson D (2008) Relationships between direct predation and risk effects. Trends Ecol Evol 23:194-201
- Cresswell W (1994) Age-dependent choice of redshank (Tringa totanus) feeding location: profitability or risk? J Anim Ecol 63:589-600
- Croy MI, Hughes RN (1991) Effects of food supply, hunger, danger and competition on choice of foraging location by the 15-sponed stickleback, Spinachia spinachia L. Anim Behav 42:131-139
- Dahlgren CP, Eggleston DB (2000) Ecological processes underlying ontogenetic habitat shifts in a coral reef fish. Ecology 81:2227-2240

- Dahlgren CP, Kellison GT, Adams AJ, Gillanders BM, Kendall MS, Layman CA, Ley JA, Nagelkerken I, Serafy JE (2006) Marine nurseries and effective juvenile habitats: concepts and applications. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 312:291-295
- Damsgard B, Dill LM (1998) Risk-taking behavior in weight-compensating coho salmon, Oncorhynchus kisutch. Behav Ecol 9:26-32
- Danilowicz BS, Sale PF (1999) Relative intensity of predation on the French grunt, Haemulon flavolineatum, during diurnal, dusk, and nocturnal periods on a coral reef. Mar Biol 133:337-343
- de la Moriniere EC, Nagelkerken I, van der Meij H, van der Velde G (2004) What attracts juvenile coral reef fish to mangroves: habitat complexity or shade? Mar Biol 144:139-145
- de la Moriniere EC, Pollux BJA, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2002) Post-settlement life cycle migration patterns and habitat preference of coral reef fish that use seagrass and mangrove habitats as nurseries. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 55:309-321
- de la Moriniere EC, Pollux BJA, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2003) Diet shifts of Caribbean grunts (Haemulidae) and snappers (Lutjanidae) and the relation with nursery-to-coral reef migrations. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 57:1079-1089
- de Sylva D (1963) Systematics and life history of the great barracuda Sphyraena barracuda (Walbaum), Vol 1. Institute of Marine Science University of Miami, Coral Gables, Florida
- Decamps H, Naiman RJ (1988) Towards and ecotone perspective. In: Naiman RJ, Decamps H (eds) Symp of the Man and Biosphere Program (Mab-5). Unesco, Sopron, Hungary, p 1-5
- Domeier ML, Koeing C, Coleman F (1996) Reproductive biology of the gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus), with notes on spawning for other western Atlantic snappers (Lutjanidae). In: Arreguin-Sanchez F, Munro JL, Blagos MC, Pauly D (eds) ICLARM. Conference Proceeding of International Center for living aquatic resources management, Manila, p 48
- Dorenbosch M, Grol MGG, de Groene A, Van der Velde G, Nagelkerken I (2009) Piscivore assemblages and predation pressure affect relative safety of some backreef habitats for juvenile fish in a Caribbean bay. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 379:181-196
- Dorenbosch M, Grol MGG, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2005) Distribution of coral reef fishes along a coral reef-seagrass gradient: edge effects and habitat segregation. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 299:277-288

- Ellis WL, Bell SS (2004) Conditional use of mangrove habitats by fishes: Depth as a cue to avoid predators. Estuaries 27:966-976
- Emlen JM (1966) The role of time and energy in food preferences. Am Nat 100:611-617
- Faunce CH, Serafy JE (2006) Mangroves as fish habitat: 50 years of field studies. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 318:1-18
- Faunce CH, Serafy JE (2007) Nearshore habitat use by gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus) and bluestriped grunt (Haemulon sciurus): environmental gradients and ontogenetic shifts. Bull Mar Sci 80: 473-495
- Faunce CH, Serafy JE (2008a) Growth and secondary production of an eventual reef fish during mangrove residency. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 79:93-100
- Faunce CH, Serafy JE (2008b) Selective use of mangrove shorelines by snappers, grunts, and great barracuda. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 356:153-162
- Fletcher D, MacKenzie D, Villouta E (2005) Modeling skewed data with many zeros: A simple approach combining ordinary and logistic regression. Environ Ecol Stat 12:45-54
- Foam PE, Harvey MC, Mirza RS, Brown GE (2005a) Heads up: juvenile convict cichlids switch to threat-sensitive foraging tactics based on chemosensory information. Anim Behav 70:601-607
- Foam PE, Mirza RS, Chivers DP, Brown GE (2005b) Juvenile convict cichlids (Archocentrus nigrofasciatus) allocate foraging and antipredator behaviour in response to temporal variation in predation risk. Behaviour 142:129-144
- Fourqurean JW, Durako MJ, Hall MO, Hefty LN (2001) Seagrass distribution in south Florida: a multi-agency coordinated monitoring program, Vol. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Franks B (2007) The Spatial ecology and resource selection of juvenile lemon sharks (Negaprion brevirostris) in their primary nursery areas. Ph.D. Dissertation. Drexel University
- Fraser DF, Gilliam JF (1987) Feeding under predation hazard: response of the guppy and hart rivulus from sites with contrasting predation hazard. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 21:203-209
- Fretwell SD, Lucas HL (1970) On territorial behavior and other factors influencing habitat distribution in birds. I. Theoretical development. Acta Biotheor 19:16-36

- Frid A, Baker GG, Dill LM (2008) Do shark declines create fear-released systems? Oikos 117:191-201
- Frid A, Dill LM, Thorne RE, Blundell GM (2007) Inferring prey perception of relative danger in large-scale marine systems. Evol Ecol Res 9:635-649
- Gilliam JF, Fraser DF (1987) Habitat selection under predation hazard: test of a model with foraging minnows. Ecology 68:1856-1862
- Gorman AM, Gregory RS, Schneider DC (2009) Eelgrass patch size and proximity to the patch edge affect predation risk of recently settled age 0 cod (Gadus). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 371:1-9
- Grand TC, Dill LM (1997) The energetic equivalence of cover to juvenile coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch): ideal free distribution theory applied. Behav Ecol 8:437-447
- Halpin PM (2000) Habitat use by an intertidal salt-marsh fish: trade-offs between predation and growth. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 198:203-214
- Hammerschlag N, Martin RA, Fallows C (2006) Effects of environmental conditions on predator-prey interactions between white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) and Cape fur seals (Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus) at Seal Island, South Africa. Environ Biol Fishes 76:341-350
- Harrigan P, Zieman JC, Macko SA (1989) The base of nutritional support for the gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus): an evaluation based on a combined stomach content and stable isotope analysis. Bull Mar Sci 44:65-77
- Harvey BC, Cashner RC, Matthews WJ (1988) Differential effects of largemouth and smallmouth bass on habitat use by stoneroller minnows in stream pools. J Fish Biol 33:481-487
- Hay ME (1984) Patterns of fish and urchin grazing on Caribbean coral reefs: are previous results typical. Ecology 65:446-454
- Heithaus MR, Frid A, Wirsing AJ, Worm, B (2008) Predicting ecological consequences of marine top predator declines. Trends Ecol Evol 23:537-537
- Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2002) Food availability and tiger shark predation risk influence bottlenose dolphin habitat use. Ecology 83:480-491
- Heithaus MR, Frid A, Wirsing AJ, Dill LM, Fourqurean JW, Burkholder D, Thomson J, Bejder L (2007a) State-dependent risk-taking by green sea turtles mediates topdown effects of tiger shark intimidation in a marine ecosystem. J Anim Ecol 76:837-844

- Heithaus MR, Marshall GJ, Buhleier BM, Dill LM (2001) Employing Crittercam to study habitat use and behavior of large sharks. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 209:307-310
- Heithaus MR, Wirsing AJ, Burkholder D, Thomson J, Dill LM (2009) Towards a predictive framework for predator risk effects: the interaction of landscape features and prey escape tactics. J Anim Ecol 78:556-562
- Heithaus MR, Wirsing AJ, Frid A, Dill LM (2007b) Behavioral indicators in marine conservation: ;essons from a pristine seagrass ecosystem. Isr J Ecol Evol 53:355-370
- Hernandez L, Laundre JW (2005) Foraging in the 'landscape of fear' and its implications for habitat use and diet quality of elk Cervus elaphus and bison Bison bison. Wildlife Biol 11:215-220
- Heupel MR, Simpfendorfer CA, Collins AB, Tyminski JP (2006) Residency and movement patterns of bonnethead sharks, Sphyrna tiburo, in a large Florida estuary. Environ Biol Fishes 76:47-67
- Hoare DJ, Couzin ID, Godin JGJ, Krause J (2004) Context-dependent group size choice in fish. Anim Behav 67:155-164
- Hobson ES (1965) Diurnal-nocturnal activity of some inshore fishes in the Gulf of California. Copeia 1965:291-302
- Holbrook SJ, Schmitt RJ (1988) Effects of predation risk on foraging behavior: mechanisms altering patch choice. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 121:151-163
- Holker F, Dorner H, Schulze T, Haertel-Borer SS, Peacor SD, Mehner T (2007) Speciesspecific responses of planktivorous fish to the introduction of a new piscivore: implications for prey fitness. Freshw Biol 52:1793-1806
- Horinouchi M (2007) Review of the effects of within-patch scale structural complexity on seagrass fishes. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 350:111-129
- Houston AI, McNamara JM, Hutchinson JMC (1993) General results concerning the trade-off between gaining energy and avoiding predation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B-Biol Sci 341:375-397
- Hugie DM, Dill LM (1994) Fish and game: a game theoretical approach to habitat selection by predators and prey. J Fish Biol 45(Suppl. A):151-169
- Jardas I, Santic M, Pallaoro A (2004) Diet composition and feeding intensity of horse mackerel, Trachurus trachurus (Osteichthyes : Carangidae) in the eastern Adriatic. Mar Biol 144:1051-1056

- Jelbart JE, Ross PM, Connolly RM (2007) Fish assemblages in seagrass beds are influenced by the proximity of mangrove forests. Mar Biol 150:993-1002
- Jepsen DB, Winemiller KO, Taphorn DC (1997) Temporal patterns of resource partitioning among Cichla species in a Venezuelan blackwater river. J Fish Biol 51:1085-1108
- Johnsson JI (2003) Group size influences foraging effort independent of predation risk: an experimental study on rainbow trout. J Fish Biol 63:863-870
- Kieckbusch DK, Koch MS, Serafy JE, Anderson WT (2004) Trophic linkages among primary producers and consumers in fringing mangroves of subtropical lagoons. Bull Mar Sci 74:271-285
- Kopp D, Bouchon-Navaro Y, Louis N, Bouchon C (2007) Diel differences in the seagrass fish assemblages of a Caribbean island in relation to adjacent habitat types. Aquat Bot 87:31-37
- Krebs CJ (1998) Ecological Methodology, Vol. Addison-Wesley Educational Publishers
- Krebs JR, Davies NB (1984) Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach, Vol. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass.
- Labeelund JH, Langeland A, Jonsson B, Ugedal O (1993) Spatial segregation by age and size in arctic charr: a trade-off between feeding possibility and risk of predation. J Anim Ecol 62:160-168
- Laegdsgaard P, Johnson C (2001) Why do juvenile fish utilize mangrove habitats? J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 257:229-253
- Laegdsgaard P, Johnson CR (1995) Mangrove habitats as nurseries unique assemblages of juvenile fish in subtropical mangroves in Eastern Australia. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 126:67-81
- Laidre KL, Heide-Jorgensen MP (2005) Winter feeding intensity of narwhals (Monodon monoceros). Mar Mamm Sci 21:45-57
- Landry F, Post JR, Parkinson EA (1999) Spatial ontogeny of lentic age-0 rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss: whole-lake manipulations of population size structure. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 56:1916-1928
- Laundre JW, Hernandez L, Altendorf KB (2001) Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, USA. Can J Zool 79:1401-1409

- Laurel BJ, Gregory RS, Brown JA (2003) Predator distribution and habitat patch area determine predation rates on Age-0 juvenile cod Gadus spp. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 251:245-254
- Layman CA, Quattrochi JP, Peyer CM, Allgeier JE (2007) Niche width collapse in a resilient top predator following ecosystem fragmentation. Ecol Lett 10:937-944
- Layman CA, Silliman BR (2002) Preliminary survey and diet analysis of juvenile fishes of an estuarine creek on Andros Island, Bahamas. Bull Mar Sci 70:199-210
- Levins R (1968) Evolution in changing environments: some theoretical explorations, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- Ley JA, Halliday IA (2007) Diel variation in mangrove fish abundances and trophic guilds of northeastern Australian estuaries with a proposed trophodynamic model. Bull Mar Sci 80:681-720
- Lima SL (1998) Stress and decision making under the risk of predation: recent developments from behavioral, reproductive, and ecological perspectives. In: Stress and Behavior, Vol 27. Academic Press Inc, San Diego, p 215-290
- Lima SL, Dill LM (1990) Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Can J Zool 68:619-640
- Limburg KE (1996) Modelling the ecological constraints on growth and movement of juvenile American shad (Alosa sapidissima) in the Hudson River Estuary. Estuaries 19(4):794-813
- Linehan JE, Gregory RS, Schneider DC (2001) Predation risk of age-0 cod (Gadus) relative to depth and substrate in coastal waters. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 263:25-44
- Lirman D, Deangelo G, Serafy J, Hazra A, Hazra DS, Herlan J, Luo J, Bellmund S, Wang J, Clausing R (2008) Seasonal changes in the abundance and distribution of submerged aquatic vegetation in a highly managed coastal lagoon. Hydrobiologia 596:105-120
- Lister JS, Neff BD (2006) Paternal genetic effects on foraging decision making under the risk of predation. Ethology 112:963-970
- Lugendo BR, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G, Mgaya YD (2006) The importance of mangroves, mud and sand flats, and seagrass beds as feeding areas for juvenile fishes in Chwaka Bay, Zanzibar: gut content and stable isotope analyses. J Fish Biol 69:1639-1661

- Luo J, Serafy JE, Sponaugle S, Teare PB, Kieckbusch D (2009) Diel and seasonal movement of gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus) among subtropical seagrass, mangrove and coral reef habitats. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 380:255-269
- Maia A, Queiroz N, Correia JP, Cabral H (2006) Food habits of the shortfin mako, Isurus oxyrinchus, off the southwest coast of Portugal. Environ Biol Fishes 77:157-167
- Manderson JP, Pessutti J, Hilbert JG, Juanes F (2004) Shallow water predation risk for a juvenile flatfish (winter flounder; Pseudopleuronectes americanus, Walbaum) in a northwest Atlantic estuary. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 304:137-157
- Manooch III CS, Matheson III RH (1981) Age, growth, and mortality of gray snapper collected from Florida waters 35th annual conference of the southeastern association of fish and wildlife agencies, Tulsa, p 331-344
- Marshall G, Bakhtiari M, Shepard M, Tweedy J, Rasch D, Abernathy K, Joliff B, Carrier JC, Heithaus MR (2007) An advanced solid-state animal-borne video and environmental data-logging device ("CRITTERCAM") for marine research. Mar Technol Soc J 41:31-38
- Martin RA, Rossmo KD, Hammerschlag N (2009) Geographic profiling and hunting patterns of white sharks. J Zool (279):111-118
- McKaye KR, Marsh A (1983) Food switching by 2 specialized algae-scraping cichlid fishes in lake Malawi, Africa. Oecologia 56:245-248
- McNamara JM, Houston AI (1987) Starvation and predation as factors limiting population size. Ecology 68:1515-1519
- Meynecke JO, Poole GC, Werry J, Lee SY (2008) Use of PIT tag and underwater video recording in assessing estuarine fish movement in a high intertidal mangrove and salt marsh creek. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 79:168-178
- Milano GR, Hammerschlag N, Barimo J, Serafy JE (2007) Restoring essential fish habitat in southeast Florida: mangrove and seagrass habitat design components and success monitoring. Bull Mar Sci 80:928-929
- Morin PJ (1999) Community Ecology, Vol. Blackwell Science, Malden, USA
- Morris DW (2003) Toward an ecological synthesis: a case for habitat selection. Oecologia 136:1-13
- Morrissey JF, Gruber SH (1993) Home range of juvenile lemon sharks, Negaprion brevirostris. Copeia:425-434

- Mumby PJ, Edwards AJ, Arias-Gonzalez JE, Lindeman KC, Blackwell PG, Gall A, Gorczynska MI, Harborne AR, Pescod CL, Renken H, Wabnitz CCC, Llewellyn G (2004) Mangroves enhance the biomass of coral reef fish communities in the Caribbean. Nature 427:533-536
- Munz FW, McFarland WN (1973) Significance of spectral position in rhodopsins of tropical marine fishes. Vision Res 13:1829-1874
- Nagelkerken I, Dorenbosch M, Verberk W, de la Moriniere EC, van der Velde G (2000a) Day-night shifts of fishes between shallow-water biotopes of a Caribbean bay, with emphasis on the nocturnal feeding of Haemulidae and Lutjanidae. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 194:55-64
- Nagelkerken I, Dorenbosch M, Verberk W, de la Moriniere EC, van der Velde G (2000b) Importance of shallow-water biotopes of a Caribbean bay for juvenile coral reef fishes: patterns in biotope association, community structure and spatial distribution. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 202:175-192
- Nagelkerken I, Kleijnen S, Klop T, van den Brand R, de la Moriniere EC, van der Velde G (2001) Dependence of Caribbean reef fishes on mangroves and seagrass beds as nursery habitats: a comparison of fish faunas between bays with and without mangroves/seagrass beds. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 214:225-235
- Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2004a) Are Caribbean mangroves important feeding grounds for juvenile reef fish from adjacent seagrass beds? Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 274:143-151
- Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2004b) Relative importance of interlinked mangroves and seagrass beds as feeding habitats for juvenile reef fish on a Caribbean island. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 274:153-159
- Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G, Verberk WCEP, Dorenbosch M (2006) Segregation along multiple resource axes in a tropical seagrass fish community. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 308:79-89
- Nakamura Y, Sano M (2004) Is there really lower predation risk for juvenile fishes in a seagrass bed compared with an adjacent coral area? Bull Mar Sci 74:477-482
- Newman SP (2003) Spatial and temporal variation in diet and prey preference of nurserybound juvenile lemon sharks (Negaprion brevirostris) at Bimini, Bahamas. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of Plymouth, UK
- Newman SP, Gruber SH (2002) Comparison of mangrove and seagrass fish and macroinvertebrate communities in Bimini. Bahamas Journal of Science 9:19-27

- Newman SP, Handy RD, Gruber SH (2007) Spatial and temporal variations in mangrove and seagrass faunal communities at Bimini, Bahamas. Bull Mar Sci 80:529-553
- Ogden JC, Ehrlich PR (1977) The behavior of heterotypic resting schools of juvenile grunts (Pomadasyidae). Mar Biol 42:273-280
- Oswald M, Robison BD (2008) Strain-specific alteration of zebrafish feeding behavior in response to aversive stimuli. Can J Zool 86:1085-1094
- Parrish JD (1989) Fish communities of interacting shallow-water habitats in tropical oceanic regions. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 58:143-160
- Payne NL, Gillanders BM (2009) Assemblages of fish along a mangrove-mudflat gradient in temperate Australia. Mar Freshw Res 60:1-13
- Peacor SD, Werner EE (2001) The contribution of trait-mediated indirect effects to the net effects of a predator. Proc Natl Acad Sci: 98(7):3904-3908
- Peterson CC, Winemiller KO (1997) Ontogenic diet shifts and scale-eating in Roeboides dayi, a Neotropical characid. Environ Biol Fishes 49:111-118
- Peterson CH, Black R (1994) An experimentalists challenge: when artifacts of intervention interact with treatments. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 111:289-297
- Pettersson LB, Bronmark C (1993) Trading off safety against food: state-dependent habitat choice and foraging in crucian carp. Oecologia 95:353-357
- Purtlebaugh CH, Rogers KR (2007) Recruitment and essential habitat of juvenile sand seatrout (Cynoscion arenarius) in four estuaries along the west coast of Florida. Gulf Mex Sci 25:15-32
- Ries L, Sisk TD (2004) A predictive model of edge effects. Ecology 85:2917-2926
- Robertson AI, Blaber SJM (1992) Plankton, epibenthos and fish communities. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (eds) Tropical mangrove ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, D.C., USA
- Rodel HG, Volkl W, Kilias H (2004) Winter browsing of brown hares: evidence for diet breadth expansion. Mamm Biol 69:410-419
- Rodriguez C, Villamizar E (2000) Benthic fauna associated to a Thalassia testudinum (Hydrocharitaceae) bed in Parque Nacional Morrocoy, Venezuela. Rev Biol Trop 48:243-249.
- Rooker JR, Dennis GD (1991) Diel, lunar and seasonal-changes in a mangrove fish assemblage off southwestern Puerto-Rico. Bull Mar Sci 49:684-698

- Rozas LP, Odum WE (1988) Occupation of submerged aquatic vegetation by fishes: testing the roles of food and refuge. Oecologia 77:101-106
- Ruiz GM, Hines AH, Posey MH (1993) Shallow-water as refuge habitat for fish and crustaceans in nonvegetated estuaries: an example from Chesapeake Bay. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 99:1-16
- Ryer CH, Olla BL (1996) Social behavior of juvenile chum salmon, Oncorhynchus keta, under risk of predation: The influence of food distribution. Environ Biol Fishes 45:75-83
- Rypel AL, Layman CA, Arrington DA (2007) Water depth modifies relative predation risk for a motile fish taxon in Bahamian tidal creeks. Estuar Coast 30:518-525
- Scheuerell MD, Schindler DE (2003) Diel vertical migration by juvenile sockeye salmon: empirical evidence for the antipredation window. Ecology 84:1713-1720
- Schmidt TW (1989) Food-habits, length-weight relationship and condition factor of young great barracuda, Sphraena barracuda (Walbaum), from Florida Bay, Everglades-National-Park, Florida. Bull Mar Sci 44:163-170
- Schmitt RJ, Holbrook SJ (1985) Patch selection by juvenile black surfperch (Embiotocidae) under variable risk: interactive influence of food quality and structural complexity. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 85:269-285
- Schmitz OJ (2007) Predator diversity and trophic interactions. Ecology 88:2415-2426
- Schoener TW (1971) Theory of feeding strategies. Ann Rev Ecol Syst 2:369-404
- Serafy JE, Faunce CH, Lorenz JJ (2003) Mangrove shoreline fishes of Biscayne Bay, Florida. Bull Mar Sci 72:161-180
- Serafy JE, Lindeman KC, Hopkins TE, Ault JS (1997) Effects of freshwater canal discharge on fish assemblages in a subtropical bay: field and laboratory observations. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 160:161-172
- Serafy JE, Valle M, Faunce CH, Luo JG (2007) Species-specific patterns of fish abundance and size along a subtropical mangrove shoreline: An application of the delta approach. Bull Mar Sci 80:609-624
- Sheaves M (2005) Nature and consequences of biological connectivity in mangrove systems. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 302:293-305

- Shoup DE, Carlson RE, Heath RT (2003) Effects of predation risk and foraging return on the diel use of vegetated habitat by two size-classes of bluegills. Trans Am Fish Soc 132:590-597
- Shulman MJ (1985) Recruitment of coral-reef fishes: effects of distribution of predators and shelter. Ecology 66:1056-1066
- Sierra LM, Claro R, Popova OA (2001) Trophic biology of the marine fishes of Cuba. Smithsonian Institution Press, 253 p.
- Sih A (1980) Optimal behavior: can foragers balance two conflicting demands. Science 210:1041-1043
- Sinclair ARE, Arcese P (1995) Population consequences of predation sensitive foraging: the serengeti wildebeest. Ecology 76:882-891
- Skalski GT, Gilliam JF (2002) Feeding under predation hazard: testing models of adaptive behavior with stream fish. Am Nat 160:158-172
- Snodgrass D, Crabtree RE, Serafy JE (2008) Abundance, growth, and diet of young-ofthe-year bonefish (Albula spp.) off the Florida Keys, USA. Bull Mar Sci 82:185-193
- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1987) Introduction to Biostatistics. New York: W. H. Freeman
- Starck W, Davis W (1966) Night habits of fishes of Alligator Reef, Florida. Icthyologica 38:313-356
- Starck W, Schroeder R (1970) Investigation on the gray snapper, Lutjanus griseus, Vol 10. University of Miami Press, Coral Gables, Florida
- Stephens DW, Krebs JR (1986) Foraging theory, Vol. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- Stoner AW, Livingston RJ (1984) Ontogenetic patterns in diet and feeding morphology in sympatric sparid fishes from seagrass meadows. Copeia:174-187
- Sutherland WJ, Parker GA (1999) The link between interference and continuous input models. Anim Behav 57:19-21
- Sutherland WJ, Townsend CR, Patmore JM (1988) A test of the ideal free distribution with unequal competitors. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 23:51-53
- Svanback R, Bolnick DI (2005) Intraspecific competition affects the strength of individual specialization: an optimal diet theory method. Evol Ecol Res 7:993-1012
- Sweatman H, Robertson DR (1994) Grazing halos and predation on juvenile Caribbean surgeonfishes. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 111:1-6
- Taniniata N, Yamamura O, Sakurai Y, Azumaya T (2008) Dietary shift and feeding intensity of Stenobrachius leucopsarus in the Bering Sea. J Oceanogr 64:185-194
- Thayer GW, Colby DR, Hettler WF (1987) Utilization of the red mangrove prop root habitat by fishes in South Florida. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 35:25-38
- Thorson JM, Morgan RA, Brown JS, Norman JE (1998) Direct and indirect cues of predatory risk and patch use by fox squirrels and thirteen-lined ground squirrels. Behav Ecol 9:151-157
- Tregenza T (1995) Building on the ideal free distribution. Adv Ecol Res 26:253-307
- Tyler AY (1971) Monthly changes in stomach contents of demersal fishes in Passamaquoddy Bay (N.B.) Fish Res Bd Can Tech Pap 288: 114
- Unsworth RKF, De Leon PS, Garrard SL, Jompa J, Smith DJ, Bell JJ (2008) High connectivity of Indo-Pacific seagrass fish assemblages with mangrove and coral reef habitats. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 353:213-224
- Unsworth R.K.F., Garrard S.L., De Leon P.S., Cullen L.C., Smith D.J., Sloman K.A. and Bell J.J. (2009) Structuring of Indo-Pacific fish assemblages along the mangroveseagrass continuum. Aquat Biol, 5: 85-95.
- Unsworth RKF, Wylie E, Smith DJ, Bell JJ (2007) Diel trophic structuring of seagrass bed fish assemblages in the Wakatobi Marine National Park, Indonesia. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 72:81-88
- Utne ACW, Aksnes DL, Giske J (1993) Food, predation risk and shelter: an experimental study on the distribution of adult two-spotted Goby Gobiusculus flavescens (Fabricius). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 166:203-216
- Valdes-Munoz E, Mochek AD (2001) Behavior of marine fishes of the Cuban shelf. In: Claro R, Lindeman KC, Parenti LR (eds) Ecology of the Marine fishes of Cuba. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington and London, p 58-72
- Valeix M, Loveridge AJ, Chamaille-Jammes S, Davidson Z, Murindagomo F, Fritz H, Macdonald DW (2009) Behavioral adjustments of African herbivores to predation risk by lions: spatiotemporal variations influence habitat use. Ecology 90:23-30
- Valentine-Rose L, Layman CA, Arrington DA, Rypel AL (2007) Habitat fragmentation decreases fish secondary production in Bahamian tidal creeks. Bull Mar Sci 80:863-877

- van der Merwe M, Brown JS (2008) Mapping the landscape of fear of the Cape ground squirrel (Xerus inauris). J Mammal 89:1162-1169
- Vanbaalen M, Sabelis MW (1993) Coevolution of patch selection strategies of predator and prey the consequences for ecological stability. Am Nat 142:646-670
- Vaughan FA (1976) Food habits and growth of seabream, Archosargus rhomboidalis (Linnaeus) on plant and animal food, with some comparisons to pinfish, Lagodon rhomboides (Linnaeus). University of Miami
- Vega-Cendejas ME, Arreguin-Sanchez F (2001) Energy fluxes in a mangrove ecosystem from a coastal lagoon in Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico. Ecol Model 137:119-133
- Verweij MC, Nagelkerken I (2007) Short and long-term movement and site fidelity of juvenile Haemulidae in back-reef habitats of a Caribbean embayment. Hydrobiologia 592:257-270
- Vesakoski O, Merilaita S, Jormalainen V (2008) Reckless males, rational females: dynamic trade-off between food and shelter in the marine isopod Idotea balthica. Behav Processes 79:175-181
- Vilhunen S, Tiira K, Laurila A, Hirvonen H (2008) The bold and the variable: Fish with high heterozygosity act recklessly in the vicinity of predators. Ethology 114:7-15
- Walters C, Christensen V, Pauly D (1997) Structuring dynamic models of exploited ecosystems from trophic mass-balance assessments. Rev Fish Biol Fish 7:139-172
- Werner EE, Gilliam JF, Hall DJ, Mittelbach GG (1983) An experimental test of the effects of predation risk on habitat use in fish. Ecology 64:1540-1548
- Werner EE, Peacor SD (2003) A review of trait-mediated indirect interactions in ecological communities. Ecology 84:1083-1100
- Wiley TR, Simpfendorfer CA (2007) The ecology of elasmobranchs occurring in the Everglades National Park, Florida: implications for conservation and management. Bull Mar Sci 80:171-189
- Winemiller KO (1989) Ontogenetic diet shifts and resource partitioning among piscivorous fishes in the Venezuelan Llanos. Environ Biol Fishes 26:177-199
- Winemiller KO (1990) Spatial and temporal variation in tropical fish trophic networks. Ecol Monogr 60:331-367
- Winer BJ (1971) Statistical principles in experimental design, Vol. McGraw-Hill, New York

- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2007a) Can you dig it? Use of excavation, a risky foraging tactic, by dugongs is sensitive to predation danger. Anim Behav 74:1085-1091
- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2007b) Fear factor: do dugongs (Dugong dugon) trade food for safety from tiger sharks (Galeocerdo cuvier)? Oecologia 153:1031-1040
- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2007c) Living on the edge: dugongs prefer to forage in microhabitats that allow escape from rather than avoidance of predators. Anim Behav 74:93-101
- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Frid A, Dill LM (2008) Seascapes of fear: evaluating sublethal predator effects experienced and generated by marine mammals. Mar Mamm Sci 24:1-15
- Yeager LA, Ariaz-Gonzalez EJ (2008) Preliminary survey of fish community composition in seagrass habitat in two back-reef lagoons of southern Mexican Caribbean. Gulf Car Res 20:41-47
- Zydlewski GB, Haro A, Whalen KG, McCormick SD (2001) Performance of stationary and portable passive transponder detection systems for monitoring of fish movements. J Fish Biol 58:1471-1475

VITA

Neil Hammerschlag was born in Johannesburg, South Africa on April 9, 1979, but grew up in Toronto, Canada. He received his Honors Bachelors of Science degree in Ecology at the University of Toronto in 2002. In 2004, Neil graduated with his Masters degree in Marine Biology from Nova Southeastern University. In fall 2004, he began his doctoral research in marine biology and fisheries at the University of Miami's Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science. Neil's current research interests focus on understanding how predator-prey interactions structure communities, particularly those involving sharks. Neil established and co-directs the University of Miami's South Florida Student Shark Program, a multi-disciplinary education and research program providing practical-hands-on marine field research experiences for high school and undergraduate students.

Permanent Address: 1500 Bay Road Apt 660, Miami Beach, Florida, 33139